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Performance report
This section includes a statement from the clinical chair and chief officer about our
performance over the past year, information about our CCG including our vision, and an outline
of some of the projects and initiatives on which we have focused during 2018-19.
Statement from the Clinical Chair and Chief Officer
Welcome to NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)’s 2018-19
annual report. This year, we achieved many positive outcomes for our patients, some of which
are detailed in this report.
These successes demonstrate how we continue to work closely with our partners to address
poor health outcomes and variation in care, within the resources we have available. What is
also clear from our work, is the dedication and commitment of everyone at the CCG to
maintain and improve the quality of services for our patients.
This good work was showcased this year, when we helped celebrate our much-loved NHS
turning 70 years old. It was important for the CCG to celebrate and recognise the vital role this
national institution plays in all our lives, as well as acknowledge the contribution and
commitment that everybody working in the service brings, whether it be working directly with
patients in a GP practice or ‘behind the scenes’ at the CCG.
Like every part of the NHS, we continually review services in the light of changing patient
needs to ensure we make savings where we can and reinvest the money where it can provide
the most benefit to patients.
During the past year we have worked hard to deliver more than £22m worth of efficiencies with
a series of improvements including more efficient prescribing of drugs, and helping patients to
use more appropriate services rather than relying on Accident and Emergency. That means we
are able to spend more on community-based services like continuing healthcare for frail and
elderly patients, community and district nursing, and extended opening hours for GP practices.
We are proud that we achieved a rating of ‘Outstanding’ from NHS England’s Improvement
and Assessment Framework (IAF). The assessment includes 60 indicators, including an
assessment of CCG leadership and financial management.
Involving and engaging with our communities to make sure we provide the services they need,
continues to be an important part of our work. This year we have asked people their views on
urgent care services in Newcastle and continue to involve our communities in our work on the
future of mental health services, both for adults and young people.
Finally, we would like to take this opportunity to thank our member practices, partners, staff
and patients for all their hard work throughout the year.
We look forward to continuing to work with you.
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Dr Mark Dornan
Clinical Chair (2018/19)
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Performance Overview
About NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the statutory health body
responsible for planning and buying (commissioning) local NHS care and services to meet the
needs of the local community. Our membership consists of 62 GP practices and we are
responsible for a population of approximately half a million people across Newcastle and
Gateshead.
We commission high quality care, using the most appropriate methods and cost-effective
resources, to improve healthcare provision for the people of Newcastle and Gateshead and
reduce disparities in health and social care. By using effective clinical decision-making we can
make a real impact on the health, wellbeing and life expectancy of our patients. We know the
NHS is facing a period of unprecedented challenges which are not unique to our area. These
challenges are driven by the following:
● An ageing population with increasing health needs
● Health inequalities across the area
● Levels of smoking, alcohol consumption and obesity higher than the national average
Over-reliance on hospital based services
● Increasing high cost drugs and cost of new medical technologies
● Limited growth in financial allocations in future years.
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In response to these challenges, our collective ambition is to maintain high quality and
sustainable health and care services for our public and patients, which we will achieve through:
● Ensuring our citizens are fully engaged
● Wider primary care provided at scale
● A modern model of integrated care
● Access to the highest quality urgent and emergency care
● A step change in the productivity of elective care
● Specialised services concentrated in centres of excellence.

Our vision
Our vision is to transform lives together by prioritising:
1. Involvement of people in our communities and providers to get the best understanding of
issues and opportunities.
2. Experience people-centred services that are some of the best in the country
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3. Outcome focusing on preventing illness and reducing inequalities
This is summarised in the diagram below:

We have continued to progress with the development of the new care models described within
the NHS Five Year Forward View. In line with this, our major areas of transformation for 201819 focused on:
● Mental health services
● Urgent and emergency care strategy
● Implementation of the General Practice Forward View
● System working and new models of health and care systems

The NHS Long Term Plan
The NHS Long Term Plan aims to improve the quality of patient care and health outcomes.
The plan focuses on building an NHS fit for the future by enabling everyone to get the best
start in life, helping communities to live well, and helping people to age well.
As the key document framing the NHS’s ambitions for the next five years, the plan will have a
major influence on our work as commissioners. It aims to improve outcomes for major
diseases, including cancer, heart disease, stroke, respiratory disease and dementia, and also
includes measures to:
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•

Improve out-of-hospital care, supporting primary medical and community health services

•

Ensure all children get the best start in life by continuing to improve maternity safety
including halving the number of stillbirths, maternal and neonatal deaths and serious brain
injury by 2025

•

Support older people through more personalised care and stronger community and primary
care services

•

Make digital health services a mainstream part of the NHS, so that in 5 years, patients in
England will be able to access a digital GP offer

Chair and Assistant Chair positions
The positions of Chair and Assistant Chair of Newcastle Gateshead CCG are term limited
posts, with individuals serving a maximum four year term. Dr Mark Dornan and Dr Guy
Pilkington’s term of office came to an end on the 31 March 2019. In order to ensure a smooth
transition, we advertised the positions to member practices and invited individuals to submit
expressions of interest.
Dr Guy Pilkington decided to step down from his position on the Governing Body after his term
as Chair/Assistant Chair came to an end.
Following this process, Dr Mark Dornan (Teams Medical Practice, Gateshead) and Dr David
Jones (Throckley Primary Care, Newcastle) started their term of office on 1 April 2019 in the
Chair/Assistant Chair roles. Both Mark and David bring a wealth of experience to the
Governing Body – Mark as the incumbent Chair/Assistant Chair and David from his previous
role as Clinical Director for Children, Young People and Families.
Mark and David’s appointments were approved by member practices at Commissioning Forum
meetings in March and then endorsed by our Governing Body. Our Constitution states that the
post holders of Chair and Assistant Chair rotate every 12 months. Therefore Mark will serve
initially as Clinical Chair from 1 April 2019 and David will be appointed to the Assistant Clinical
Chair role from 1 April 2019.
Mental health services
Deciding Together, Delivering Together
Agencies across Newcastle and Gateshead continue to work together to fundamentally
redesign adult mental health services, reducing our reliance on inpatient beds and ensuring
that people can easily access the right care and treatment for their needs within their
community.
Over the past year, some areas have seen real change and improvement, while other areas
have proved more difficult. Recent changes, which will also be the focus of our work in the
coming year, include:
Improving adult inpatient wards - a plan is now in place to improve adult inpatient wards,
which was a key outcome from the Deciding Together consultation programme.
This means adult inpatient wards will be comprehensively refurbished by August 2019,
providing facilities that are suitable for best practice care and treatment.
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Planning together for provision of older people’s beds - We now have an agreement in
principle that older people’s beds in Newcastle can be used by patients from Gateshead, while
inpatient wards in their area are being refurbished. Whether this option is needed or not, it
shows that services in the two areas are working together more closely to provide the best
services we can across both areas.
Quicker consultant psychiatry advice for GPs - We know that quicker access to advice and
support from consultant psychiatry can help GPs provide a better service to patients with
mental health needs. In Gateshead, there is a dedicated ‘GP hour’ every Monday, Tuesday
and Thursday, with a consultant available to give advice over the phone to GPs. A pilot is now
underway in the west end of Newcastle, offering quicker access to advice via email as well as
a ‘GP hour’ on Tuesdays, Thursdays and Fridays. We hope to extend this service across the
city once the pilot has been evaluated.
New crisis support facility for people with a learning disability - A new resource including
three crisis rooms, is now available in the west end of Newcastle for people with a learning
disability and/or autism. This facility was developed by a partnership of NTW (Northumbria,
Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust), the CCG Newcastle City Council.
Mental health access team in RVI emergency department - A new approach to support for
adults with presenting with mental ill health is being tested at the Royal Victoria Infirmary
emergency department in Newcastle. This sees a mental health access team working
alongside existing clinical responses, including the psychiatric liaison team, to provide a
multidisciplinary team approach and social work perspective for adults presenting as the result
of a mental health crisis. This approach aims to help the health and social care system to
understand mental health needs more effectively and get the right level of support to adults at
the right time.
New outreach team - The mental health recovery support service in Newcastle now has a
dedicated outreach team based at Westgate community complex.
Over the next two years, our work will focus on:
● Access to mental health services, and making this more streamlined and easier to navigate
● Redesign of mental health inpatient beds in accordance with decisions made through the
Deciding Together consultation
● Developing a safe haven hub
● Availability of short term non-hospital crisis beds for Gateshead residents (this service is
already available to Newcastle residents)
● Developing services for older people to ensure consideration is given to physical health,
mental health and social care needs when responding to referrals. This will include a more
integrated approach when responding to crisis situations
● Strengthen community-based services.
We are developing detailed plans to put each of these priorities into action, each of which will
identify ways for people with lived experience of mental ill health to get involved.
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Children, young people and families
Working with schools to transform children’s mental health care
One in nine young people aged five to 15 had a mental health condition in 2017, and
teenagers with a mental disorder are more than two and a half times more likely to have
mental health problems in adulthood.
Newcastle Gateshead is one of 25 areas across England linking with schools and colleges to
provide expert mental health support, as part of national plans to transform children and young
people’s mental health through the NHS Long-Term Plan.
Having successfully secured ‘trailblazer’ status, we are in a stronger position to ensure that we
support young people when they experience mental health difficulties, with that essential
support available when the signs of mental health issues first appear.
New mental health support teams will be based in and near schools and colleges, offering
support to more than 470,000 children and young people.
The teams will build on support already in place from school counsellors, nurses, educational
psychologists and the voluntary sector to treat those with mild to moderate mental health
issues in school and help children and young people with more severe needs to access the
right support.
Kooth
The Trailblazer initiative follows the Expanding Minds, Improving Lives project, which saw the
CCG working with Newcastle and Gateshead councils to listen to young people’s experiences
and views of mental health services.
This work highlighted some of the areas we can improve local services, leading to the CCG
commissioning ‘Kooth.com’, an award-winning online counselling and support service for
young people aged 11-18, and for those in Looked After Care until they are 25.
Kooth is a safe, confidential and anonymous way for young people to access emotional
wellbeing and early intervention mental health support. The confidential service offers both
drop-in and booked online chats with psychotherapists and counsellors as well as life forums,
self-help articles and peer support. More information can be found at www.kooth.com.
Families give positive feedback on ‘welcome events’
Families have given positive feedback about ‘welcome events’ which help parents and carers
of children and young people who have been referred to the community neurodevelopmental
assessment team at Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust.
Introduced in 2017, the events help families find out how the team works and what to expect
from the assessment process. Welcome events take place once or twice a month, depending
on demand.
Feedback from parents and carers has been encouraging, with 73% of families who attended
an event feeling they had enough information about the assessment process – compared with
only 20% among those who did not.
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The events aim to be open and transparent about waiting times and demands on the service,
and set clear expectations about what a neurodevelopmental assessment involves and the role
of the Children and Young People’s Service (CYPS).
It also enables the service to gather preliminary information, screen risks, gain consent to
contact other professionals and provide information about common difficulties and sources of
support in the community.
Young commissioners
Our work to improve mental health services for young people is supported by an active group
of ‘Young Commissioners,’ aged 13 to 19 (or up to 25 if the young person has learning
difficulties or disabilities).
The Young Commissioners work alongside statutory commissioners to help us shape the
future design of mental health services to better suit the needs of children, young people and
families. The Young Commissioners also act in a challenge and scrutiny role and encourage
wider involvement of young people.
The Little Orange Book
The Little Orange Book helps parents of under-fives with practical information about common
childhood conditions.
The Little Orange Book is focused on acute illness in young children and helps parents and
carers to recognise and then respond appropriately to a range of diseases, illnesses and
conditions as well as signposting parents to the most appropriate service or clinician should
they need further support.
The booklet is distributed in Newcastle and Gateshead through health visitors to pregnant
women at their 28-week antenatal visit, at postnatal checks and baby and toddler health visitor
clinics, as well as schools, children centres, pharmacists and GP practices and A&E.
Since its launch in 2016 it has also been advertised prominently in local publications such as
CityLife and Gateshead Council news, as well as through social media.
Schools
The CCG carries out awareness-raising assemblies for Year 9 students, delivered by GPs and
school nurses. These help to inform pupils as to what GPs and school nurses can do to
support their health and wellbeing, as well as how to make an appointment and access
confidential help from their GP.
This project has engaged local GPs and encouraged them to visit their local schools, as well
as helping signpost young people away from inappropriate use of urgent care services such as
A+E. Further work has included GPs and senior teachers coming together to look at areas in
which education and primary care services can work together. These areas include children
and young people with long-term conditions or complex needs, prolonged or persistent
absenteeism, and information-sharing.
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Older People
Enhanced Health in Care Homes - (Gateshead and Newcastle vanguard)
As one of only six care home vanguards in the national New Models of Care programme,
Newcastle Gateshead has been at the forefront of work nationally to improve health in care
homes.
The three-year Enhanced Health in Care Homes vanguard programme came to an end in
March, with Newcastle Gateshead confirmed as the highest performing of the six areas.
Data from the NHSE New Care Models team shows that while all six care homes vanguard
areas have seen an increase in emergency admissions since 2015, growth in Newcastle
Gateshead is around 2% - lower than the cohort average and substantially lower than the 11%
increase for the non-vanguard areas.
Newcastle Gateshead has seen a 10% reduction in emergency bed days since 2015,
compared to an increase for the non-vanguard areas. This is very encouraging when
considering the impact of the programme in bringing sustainable change.
This is in addition to previously reported achievements such as a 35% decrease in non-elective
admissions for urine infection; a 9% reduction in 999 calls from care homes which result in
conveyance to hospital, due to improved care and recording at home; and an 11% increase in
patients dying in their place of choice, through improved care planning and recording.
Building on the success of vanguard programme, we have played a key role in the creation of
the Care Closer to Home network and introduction of a regional frailty toolkit through the North
East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System [ICS].
This includes running a regional engagement forum to inform good service delivery today,
while informing the care of tomorrow’s older people through robust evaluation, workforce
development and research.
Primary care
GP practice changes
Over the past year, we have provided advice and practical support to practices considering
changes such as mergers, as well as taking steps to safeguard primary care in areas where
we faced a challenge in securing a provider for GP services.
This included:
•

Working to secure a long-term provider for the Blaydon GP practice, and providing
updates for patients and local stakeholders as the work progressed. In July we were able to
confirm that CBC Health Ltd would continue to provide the service under a new ten-year
contract.

•

Securing a new provider for Grainger Medical Practice at Elswick Health Centre, after
having to make the difficult decision to close the practice’s Scotswood site. After a first
procurement exercise did not result in any bids, we were pleased that a second exercise
secured a provider. Newcastle GP Services Ltd is now providing the service on a ten-year
contract.
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•

Helping the partners at Holly Medical Group and The Surgery engage with patients
around a proposed merger of the two Jesmond practices, after the partners at Holly came
to the decision that from 1 April 2019 they would no longer be able to provide GP services
and would be leaving the practice.

•

Working with Newcastle City Council and NHS England to monitor demand for primary care
services and consider options for ensuring future provision matches need as the
Newcastle Great Park neighbourhood grows over the coming years. There are currently
nine GP practices and two branch surgeries within two miles of the Great Park, with many
patients choosing to stay with their existing practice when they move into the area. As
demand rises over the next decade, additional need could be met through a new practice, a
new branch surgery or increased investment in capacity at practices nearby. Any new
development would need to be financially sustainable, and able to attract new GPs rather
than simply competing with neighbouring practices for the same staff.

Primary Care Networks
Across Newcastle and Gateshead, our practices are working to develop Primary Care
Networks (PCNs), which will be a key part of the way we work in future. Primary care networks
will see groups of practices working together with local providers, including community
services, social care and the voluntary sector, to offer more personalised, coordinated health
and social care to their local populations.
Networks will work in groups serving 30,000 – 50,000 people – small enough to give a sense
of local ownership, but big enough to provide a resilience and allow the development of
integrated teams. The aim of PCNs is the ensure that everyone gets the best start in life, to
provide world class care for major health problems, and to support people to age well.
Local practices are working to formalise and strengthen their joint working arrangements to
deliver these new arrangements, with support from the CCG. The networks will be the
foundation for the new Integrated Care Systems, with a focus on preventing ill health and
tackling health inequalities, supporting the workforce, maximising data and technology
opportunities, and overall efficiency.

Urgent care in Newcastle
During the year we shared our findings with patients after more than 1200 local people gave
their views on urgent care services in Newcastle, to help us improve services, to meet the
needs of Newcastle residents as well as meet new national requirements.
In Newcastle, urgent care is mostly provided by the patient’s GP practice, alongside three GPled walk-in centres at Westgate Road, Molineux Street in Byker and Ponteland Road, plus a
nurse-led service which operates 14 hours per week at the Lemington Resource Centre.
These services work alongside the NHS 111 telephone service and local pharmacists to
support patients with urgent care needs.
One key change will be the development of the three walk-in centres at Westgate Road,
Molineux Street and Ponteland Road into Urgent Treatment Centres (UTCs). These will be
GP-led, staffed by GPs, nurses and other clinicians and will provide a consistent level of
service across the city.
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Opening for at least 12 hours a day, they will offer a mix of booked and walk-in appointments
with access to simple diagnostics, like urinalysis, ECG and X-rays, as well as treating children
under two.
Although the ‘walk-in’ service will remain, it is intended that most patients who need medical
help straight away call NHS 111 or their own GP practice, who will help you get the right
medical attention in the right place, at the right time. This includes pre-booked appointments
with a GP at one of the urgent treatment centres.
While the Lemington Centre will not be able to meet the national requirements for an Urgent
Treatment Centre, Newcastle Gateshead CCG understands how important this facility is to
local people, so will continue to provide access to urgent primary care services there, with prebookable GP appointments available to ensure that local patients are able to access same day
primary care support when they need it.
The CCG shared its findings at a series of local events, and published a report summarising all
the comments that were made. The changes are expected to take place before the end of
2019.
Long-term conditions
Care and support planning
Practices in Newcastle and Gateshead are progressing well with implementing care and
support planning for people with more than one long-term condition (LTC), based on the ‘Year
of Care’ approach. Care and support planning is a proactive approach to managing long-term
conditions, based on encouraging patients to talk about what really matters to them, identify
goals and agree an action plan. Where appropriate, it can also involve linking the patient with
activities in a supportive community.
This work is building on the House of Care project, which helped practices to adopt the
principles of care and support planning, with support from a LTC patient group and a team of
local clinicians who trained as Year of Care trainers.
We have also supported the development of primary care navigator posts and community link
workers to support social prescribing, which enables patients to make improvements to their
health and wellbeing through linking with wider activities and organisations in their
communities.
A comprehensive evaluation across six practices showed a significant impact, with 75% of LTC
patients saying they felt better able to cope with their condition after a care and support
planning consultation.
Healthier You: NHS diabetes prevention programme
Newcastle Gateshead CCG joined The ‘Healthier You: NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme’
(NDPP) partnership between NHS England, Public Health England and Diabetes UK, which
aims to deliver at scale, evidence-based behavioural interventions for individuals identified as
being at high risk of developing Type 2 diabetes.
The programme aims to prevent or delay 18,000 cases of diabetes among the five-year cohort
of 390,000 participants by the end of the fifth year. Type 2 diabetes currently costs the NHS
£8.8 billion per year.
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The programme focuses on three core goals - weight loss, dietary achievements and physical
activity. People will be supported predominantly in face-to-face groups to achieve goals and
make lifestyle changes and reduce their risk of developing Type 2 diabetes.
This followed the launch last year of an expanded and improved education service for patients
with type 2 diabetes. This increased our capacity to work with people diagnosed with type 2
diabetes so that they can learn more about their condition, either by attending a group or online
if they prefer.
Regional initiatives
The North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System and Integrated Care
Partnerships
North East and North Cumbria NHS organisations are currently working towards becoming a
single Integrated Care System (ICS), supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).
The NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 sets out clear expectations for all
Integrated Care Systems.
The North East and North Cumbria (NENC) ICS aims to bring together local organisations to
redesign care and improve population health, creating shared leadership and action,
integrating primary and specialist care, physical and mental health services, and health with
social care.
Newcastle Gateshead CCG is one of the NHS partners in the NENC ICS who have agreed to
work together at scale where it makes most sense to do so, and to protect and emphasise the
importance of ‘place’ - local accountability to local populations and the ability to respond to
local needs.
The NENC ICS will not be a new organisation but a new way of working, drawing several
existing strands of work together into a single system leadership and governance framework
that will allow us to harness their collective resources and expertise to make faster progress on
improving health outcomes and deliver better value across the population.
The NENC ICS ambition is to significantly improve health outcomes for people in the North
East and North Cumbria (NENC) by working with, and through, communities, partner
organisations and our staff. We are focused on creating a common purpose and joint ambition
to drive improvements in health, wealth and wellbeing.
Our ICS aims to streamline its commissioning arrangements to enable decision-making at
system level where appropriate. There is an expectation that CCGs will become more strategic
supporting providers to partner with local government and other community organisations on
population health and service redesign.
Our agreed joint priorities – regardless of organisation or service provider – are focused on
improving people’s health and wellbeing and ensuring safe and sustainability services. By
holding regular ‘health and care summits’, involving local authorities, members of the public
and voluntary sector, we will continue to check our priorities and direction.
The value of contributing towards a single ICS is understood by partners, however the majority
of services will continue to be commissioned, planned and delivered locally. We will be working
across three levels of scale:
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•

Place – populations of circa 150,000 to 500,000 people will be the main focus for
partnership working between the NHS and local authorities. In these areas, primary care
networks (providing services to populations of circa 30,000-50,000 people) will support
collaboration between GP practices, social care, other community based care providers
and voluntary sector organisations.

•

Integrated care partnerships – populations of around one million (with the exception of
North Cumbria, which has unique geographical and demographic features), focused on
collaboration across NHS hospital trusts, to ensure safe and sustainable services.

•

Integrated care system – a population of circa 3.1 million people, focussed on ‘at scale’
activity that achieves efficiencies.

In Gateshead, Newcastle, North Tyneside and Northumberland, NHS organisations have come
together, working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a
coordinated way as the North Integrated Care Partnership (North ICP) through their Clinical
Strategy.
Optimising the use of over the counter medicines
Working with all the CCGs in the region, we supported a behaviour change campaign focused
on persuading patients to purchase low-cost over the counter medicines for self-care and
minor conditions instead of using an NHS prescription.
The NHS each year spends millions on medications that can be purchased over the counter at
a lower cost than that which would be incurred by the NHS – for example, a pack of 12 antisickness tablets can be purchased for £2.18 from a pharmacy whereas the cost to the NHS is
over £3 after including dispensing fees, and over £35 when you include GP consultation and
other administration costs.
The costs of these products could be used to fund other NHS services - for example, £22.8
million on constipation nationally would be enough to fund around 900 community nurses,
while £3 million on athlete’s foot and other fungal infections could fund 810 hip operations.
The campaign used a range of communications materials which were distributed to GP
practices, walk-in centres, A&E departments and pharmacies for prescribers to use it to help
with the discussion with patients to promote self-care. This approach was supported by media
coverage, information on CCG websites and social media.
The overall aim was to save money on prescribing costs for items that patients can easily buy
– such as paracetamol and hay fever medication - to treat self-limiting minor ailments, which
would allow the savings to be used elsewhere in the healthcare system.
During a 12-month period, the campaign made savings of over £1 million across the region,
helping redirect money to other urgent healthcare needs.
In March 2018 NHS England released the findings from a national consultation and
recommendations on the conditions for which over the counter items should not be routinely
prescribed in primary care. The findings mirrored the local evidence and research showing that
the North East and North Cumbria areas were ahead of the curve and had already made
significant savings prior to the recommendations being released.
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North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network
Newcastle Gateshead CCG is an active part of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and
Emergency Care Network which brings together over 30 organisations to improve the quality,
safety and equity of access to services.
Established through the New Models of Care (vanguards) programme, the network has led on
a range of innovations which have helped the region to record some of England’s best A&E
performance figures and road-tested a series of changes to improve and ease the pressure on
services.
This vital work is continuing through an ambitious three-year strategy to reduce hospital
admissions and A&E attendances, make better use of GPs and pharmacists, and help patients
improve their own health.
Through the network, the region’s hospitals work together as a single, well-coordinated
system, monitoring demand, sharing information in real time, and supporting each other
through busy periods. This means emergency responses are better coordinated and the risk of
queueing ambulances and unnecessarily long waits in A&E is reduced.
This whole system approach includes:
GP ring back scheme allows ambulance clinicians to have direct contact with the patient’s
own GP practice helping to address ambulance delays and improve patient care and
experience. An initial pilot across Durham, Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG began midNovember 2018 and evaluation in January 2019, to ensure an effective regional roll out and
implementation of any required changes.
It is expected that there will be reductions in time on scene and conveyances to hospital, while
increasing care closer to home and providing a better patient experience.
New NHS 111 Online service went live in July 2018 and provides a digital option for patients
accessing urgent care in the North East and North Cumbria.
Patients are able to receive self-care advice via their smart phone, tablet or computer, be
signposted to pharmacy and optician services, be referred to GP services and receive
telephone call-backs from clinicians when appropriate.
Urgent treatment centres standardisation to a core set of standards means that it will be
much clearer and less confusing to patients about what centres offer in terms of opening times,
the types of staff present and what diagnostics may be available.
Digital care means thousands of patients are benefiting from better, safer care, thanks to a
new system supported by the network. In the past, different parts of the NHS have had their
own paper records and exchanged information using letters, telephone and fax. As a result,
important information held by GPs, such as medications prescribed and recent test results –
was not easily available to other healthcare professionals at the point of care. Now, in the
North East region, 100% of the region’s 340 GP practices have agreed to share patient records
with emergency doctors, nurses and paramedics, using the Medical Interoperability Gateway
(MIG) system.
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The MIG offers secure, real-time access to a summary of GP-held records so clinical decisions
are made using the most up-to-date information, such as diagnoses, medications, details of
hospitals admissions and treatments. Over 40,000 patient records are successfully accessed
each month, resulting in safer, faster, more effective care, with less time wasted getting hold of
medical records, or answering questions more than once.
Rolling out the MIG is an important step towards the long-term vision for a Great North Care
Record.
Direct GP bookings through NHS 111 with 96% of GP surgeries in the North East committed
to accepting appointments through NHS 111, putting the region in the forefront of change
within the NHS nationally.
As the first region to implement GP bookings through NHS 111 on this scale, the North East
and North Cumbria is now advising NHS England about how to include direct bookings in
national GP contracts in future.
NHS child health app helps parents who lack confidence or need guidance on how best to
deal with common childhood illnesses as well as reducing the pressure on services. Children
account for a high proportion of A&E attendances in the North East, but around 60% underfives are discharged with no treatment.
Strong demand in recent months has seen over 20,000 downloads to date, with the app being
shortlisted for several national awards.
Northern CCG Forum and Northern CCG Joint Committee
In common with all CCGs in the region, we played an active role in the Northern Clinical
Commissioning Group Forum which operated until May 2018. The forum provided leadership
to the North East and North Cumbria health system, addressed national and regional policy
issues and carried out business on a joint basis where this achieved the best outcome.
This included areas like winter pressures, CQUIN, implementation of new services and
avoidance of inequitable treatment through ‘postcode prescribing’. At its meeting in May 2018,
the Forum agreed that it should be stood down and its business transferred to the Northern
CCG Joint Committee.
The CCG is a member of the Northern CCG Joint Committee which makes decisions on
subjects recommended to it. These are confined to issues that pertain to all CCG areas in the
North East and North Cumbria, initially the commissioning of specialist acute services and
‘111’ services. During 2018/19 the Joint Committee also considered the following:
•

Breast symptomatic services

•

Specialised commissioning within the emerging Integrated Care System (ICS)

•

Sustaining quality clinical services across North Cumbria and the North East

•

Communications and engagement for integrated health and care

•

North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) Annual Review 2017/18

•

Collaboration with the Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) North East North
Cumbria
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•

Local non-executive community networks

•

Primary care research strategy

Where appropriate, meetings are held in public and members of the public are welcome to
attend to observe the Joint Committee at work.
Other initiatives
Supporting our communities - Syrian vulnerable families resettlement programme
Newcastle and Gateshead continue to welcome Syrian vulnerable families under the UK
Government’s resettlement programme, with a number of agencies working in partnership to
ensure their seamless settlement.
Newcastle and Gateshead local authorities, housing agencies and the CCG have worked
together to create a protocol to help ensure that these families are supported in registering with
a GP practice and have easy access to healthcare and screening services. The protocol has
been approved by the North East Migration Authority as an exemplar of best practice and has
been shared nationwide.
Partner agencies are working together to ensure families are appropriately housed, supported
and enabled to adjust to life in a foreign country. This includes assistance with language,
benefit claims, job seeking and access to primary and secondary healthcare assessments
where needed.
From November 2015 to January 2019, Newcastle Gateshead has welcomed a total of 153
families (572 people) under this scheme. 89 families have settled in Gateshead and a further
64 families have been located in Newcastle.

Performance summary
Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality standard
and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to manage
performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work with internal and
external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of action plans to mitigate
these.
This ensures improvements in performance are delivered. Throughout the year, reports are
provided to our Governing Body setting out our performance against the agreed local and
national measures. Monitoring performance also helps us in understanding the effectiveness of
services, together with the role of quality assurance and financial management.
Key issues and risks
Information about our key issues and risks is given in the governance statement, which is part
of the accountability report later in this document. The major risk to the CCG throughout
2018/19 related to meeting the statutory financial duties and achieving the control total set by
NHS England. This continues to be a risk into 2019/20, as increasing pressures on the CCG
finances continue, particularly from demographic pressures. Another major risk in 2018/19
concerned the sustainability of General Practice in Newcastle and Gateshead, due to a range
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of factors such as workforce, resilience and capacity. Again, this risk remains a risk into
2019/20, with controls in place to help mitigate adverse impacts.

Performance analysis
Performance measures
We have continued to work hard to achieve our targets as set out by the NHS Constitution and
the CCG Assurance Framework. Here we highlight our performance against the key areas,
such as A&E four hour waits, ambulance handover times, cancer waiting times, referral to
treatment, our local quality indicators, healthcare acquired infections and mental health. The
most up to date available data has been used to prepare this report. We also give details of our
performance against the key clinical priority areas as published on my NHS, our financial
performance and our approach to sustainable development.
All clinical commissioning groups in England are subject to a comprehensive annual
assessment which is led by NHS England. This examines key components and considers the
strengths, challenges and areas for improvement before applying a headline rating of
outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate.
Newcastle Gateshead CCG was awarded an overall rating of “Outstanding”, in 2017/18, when
assessed against the Better Health, Better Care, Sustainability and Leadership domains.
Clinical Priority areas
The Forward View and the NHS planning guidance set out national ambitions for
transformation in 6 clinical priorities areas - Mental Health, Dementia, Learning Disabilities,
Cancer, Maternity and Diabetes.
National ratings have been published in 2018/19 for the 6 clinical priority areas, and Newcastle
Gateshead CCG continues to perform very well, achieving a “Good” rating for Dementia,
Diabetes, Mental Health, Cancer and Maternity. An action plan has been developed for the
Learning Disabilities clinical priority area, which achieved a “Requires improvement” rating and
has identified areas of improvement. In addition the CCG has developed an action plan for
each of the 6 areas for continuous improvement in all priority areas.

Outcome framework
CCG performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that it is delivering quality outcomes
for patients, both locally and as part of the national standards. In some areas we are
performing particularly well, but there are some areas that still require improvement.
G
A

= Met expected standard
= Just below expected standard
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Urgent care performance
A&E Four hour waits

A

The principal measure used to assess local urgent care performance is the standard that 95%
of patients attending A&E will be admitted or discharged within four hours.
In 2018/19 94.9% of Newcastle Gateshead CCG patients were admitted or discharged within
four hours, which is marginally below the 95% standard. Performance at Gateshead Health
NHS FT was marginally below the standard at 94% for 2018/19, whereas performance at
Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT was 95.5% as at March 2019 to date, which is above
the standard. A number of contributing factors, not least higher than expected attendance from
other areas have resulted in the under-performance and a recovery action plan is currently in
place.
Ambulance response times

A

In July 2017 NHSE published a new set of performance standards for the English ambulance
services through the national Ambulance Response Programme (ARP).
NEAS have managed to deliver a mean response time for Newcastle Gateshead CCG
Category 1 calls of less than 7 minutes, since reporting against the new standards began
recording in 2018/19, and have delivered 05:27 (mm:ss) Jan19 YTD against the 7 min target.
The Cat 2 standard of 18 minutes also remains within target Jan 19 to date at 17:48 (mm:ss)
for Newcastle Gateshead CCG Jan 19 YTD.
The Cat 3 and 4 targets are not being met however for NGCCG Jan 19 YTD, with NEAS
performing at 2:43:52 (hr:mm:ss) against the 90th percentile target of 120 mins for the Cat 3
target and 3:05:52 (hr:mm:ss) against the Cat 4 180 mins 90th percentile target for NGCCG.
There is a 4 year transformation plan in place with NEAS and the local CCGs which will ensure
there is adequate investment to meet the national targets on a sustainable basis.
A&E decision to admit to admission > 12 hours

G

Neither Gateshead Health NHS FT nor the Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT had any
incidents of patients waiting more than 12 hours from the decision to admit to actual admission.
Cancer Waiting Times

A

The NHS Constitution requires that CCGs must achieve a set of cancer waiting times
standards. All key standards are currently being met with the exception of the 62 day referral
to treatment standard for the patients of Newcastle Gateshead CCG. The standards are
currently being met in respect of:
Two week wait (2WW) all cancers

G

In 2018/19 the data as at January 2019 show that the percentage of patients who are currently
receiving an outpatient appointment within two weeks when referred by their GP is currently at
the required level.
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2 week wait breast symptomatic

A

In 2018/19 the data as at February 2019 show the percentage of patients who were referred
urgently for an outpatient appointment with breast symptoms and received their appointment
within two weeks is below the required standard. System pressures across the region have
been in existence in 2018/19 following a period of significant increased demand and a recovery
plan is being developed both at a local and regional level.
31 day first treatment – all cancers

G

In 2018/19 the data as at February 2019 show that the percentage of patients who were
diagnosed with cancer who commenced treatment within 31 days was within the required
standard.
62 day GP referral to first treatment for Cancer

A

In 2018/19 the data as at February 2019 show that the percentage of patients who were
diagnosed with cancer and commenced treatment within 62 days, following an urgent referral
from their GP is currently below the required standard. System pressures across the region
have been in existence in 2018/19 following a period of significant increased demand and a
recovery plan is in place both at a local and regional level.
Other cancer standards
In 2018/19 the data as at February 2019 show that other cancer measures are currently
performing within required standards:
o 31 day treatment – surgery

G

o 31 day treatment –drugs

G

o 31 day treatment – radiotherapy

G

o 62 day screening to first treatment for cancer

G

Healthcare associated infections (HCAI)

A

All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance of MRSA
(Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), so all commissioners and providers targets are
zero. Organisations across the North East have demonstrated an improvement in the HCAI
rates compared to 2016/17 and it has been acknowledged nationally that there have been
significant improvements over recent years. CCGs are required to meet national standards for
clostridium difficile (CDiff) and MRSA.
In 2018/19 the data as at February 2019 show that there have been 2 published cases of
MRSA at Newcastle Hospitals NHS FT and 2 published cases of MRSA at Gateshead Health
NHS FT. There have been 6 cases of MRSA attributed to Newcastle Gateshead CCG.
Newcastle Gateshead CCG is outside the annual threshold for the maximum number of cases
of C Diff as at February 2019 with 155 cases in 2018/19 (against the threshold of 141 for the
year).
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Newcastle Gateshead CCG continues to host the Healthcare Acquired Infection Partnership to
jointly review action plans and share leaning across Northumbria Healthcare NHS FT,
Gateshead Health NHS FT and Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT.
Improving access to psychological therapies
Access

A

Newcastle Gateshead CCG is currently delivering access to psychological therapies for
patients diagnosed with depression or anxiety, at a level below the 16.9% national requirement
as at February 2019. There is a further requirement to move towards a level of 19% in
January to March 2019 and there is an action plan in place in Newcastle to address this.
Waiting times

G

Newcastle Gateshead patients accessing psychological therapies are currently waiting less
than 6 and 18 weeks for their initial appointment in Newcastle and Gateshead which is within
the required standards)
Moving to Recovery

A

48.5% of Newcastle Gateshead CCG patients accessing psychological therapies move to
recovery (based on data as at February 2019) which is in marginally below the national
requirement of 50%. There is an action plan in place to address this.
Mixed sex accommodation

A

Under the NHS Constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate mixedsex accommodation. There have been no breaches of mixed-sex accommodation in 2018/19
locally at The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT or Gateshead Health NHS FT, although
two Newcastle Gateshead CCG patients breached at out of area hospitals.
Referral to treatment

G

In 2018/19 data as at February 2019 show that 93.8% of Newcastle Gateshead CCG patients
who continued to wait for treatment had been waiting less than 18 weeks, well above the
required standard of 92%.
There has been a national expectation that the March 2018 waiting list size will be maintained
throughout 2018/19. In Newcastle Gateshead CCG there have been a number of factors at
Newcastle upon Tyne NHS FT (NUTH NHS FT) which have contributed to a significant growth
in the waiting list from March 2018. The most significant factor in the increased growth has
been the implementation of the Tyneside Integrated MSK service (TIMS) in October 2018.
Friends and family test
The friends and family test is intended to be a simple assessment which measures patient
experience of our main acute providers. Current experience at Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals
NHS FT and Gateshead Health NHS FT has been reported by patients as positive, and
response rates have been improving.
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Financial performance
The Governing Body approved a commissioning budget for 2018/19 based on an initial
allocation of £734.5m, plus the running costs allowance of £10.6m. In addition the CCG
received its delegated Primary Care Commissioning Budget at £68.4m, giving an overall in
year funding envelope of £813.4m. The CCG reported a cumulative surplus of £14.9m in
2017/18 and set financial plans to achieve a similar level of £14.6m cumulative surplus for
2018/19 as was required by NHS England.
The reported final position exceeded this “control total” by £0.2m for 2018/19 which results in a
cumulative surplus of £14.8m.
The final in year resource allocation for the CCG in 2018/19 was £822.6m, against which
expenditure totalled £822.4m and was applied in the following way:

How the money was spent - Newcastle
Gateshead CCG 2018/19

Acute Services, £381.7m
Primary Care & Prescribing,
£92.5m
Continuing Healthcare and Funded
Nursing Care, £84.6m
Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities Services, £76.7m
Primary Care Co-Commissioning,
£66.2m
Community Services, £65.4m
Ambulance Services, £20.4m
Better Care Fund, £16.0m
Other Services, £10.3m
Running Costs, £8.6m
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Healthcare spend by Provider -Newcastle
Gateshead CCG 2018/19
Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust (32%)
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation
Trust (18%)
Non NHS Providers (Incl Continuing
Care Providers and Local Authorities)
(19%)
Primary Care Prescribing (10%)

Primary Care Contracts (10%)

Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS
Foundation Trust (8%)
North East Ambulance NHS
Foundation Trust (3%)
South Tyneside NHS Foundation
Trust (1%)
Northumbria Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust (1%)
Other NHS Providers (0.5%)

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust (0.5%)
County Durham & Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust (0.3%)
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Key financial performance indicators
Revenue resource limit
The CCG’s performance for 2018/19 is as follows:
Revenue resource limit

2018/19
£000

Total net operating cost for the financial year

822,392

Final revenue resource limit for year

822,606

Underspend against revenue resource limit

214

Better Payment Practice Code
There is a financial obligation under the Better Practice Payment Code to pay 95% of creditors
within 30 days of invoicing or receipt of invoice or goods, whichever is the later. Overall
performance for the year was that 99.57% of correctly addressed and undisputed invoices
were paid within the required 30 days as a percentage of the total value of invoices paid and
97.67% as a percentage of the total number of invoices paid in the year. A breakdown across
NHS and Non-NHS creditors is shown below:
Better Payment Practice Code

2018/19

2018/19

Number

£000

Total bills paid in the year

18,044

213,144

Total bills paid within target

17,605

211,021

97.57%

99.00%

Total bills paid in the year

3,397

523,454

Total bills paid within target

3,336

522,412

98.20%

99.80%

Non-NHS creditors

Percentage of bills paid within target

NHS creditors

Percentage of bills paid within target

Running costs
The CCG is required to maintain running costs within a total allowance of £10.5m in 2018/19.
The broad definition of running costs is that it will include any cost incurred that is not a direct
payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare related services.
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Running costs

2018/19

Running costs (£000)

8,631

Population (number)

498,261

Running cost per head of weighted population (£)

17.36

Looking ahead
2019/20 marks the first year of the new NHS funding settlement for which CCG draft
allocations were published in January 2019. This is part of the deployment of NHS England’s
five-year funding settlement averaging growth of 3.4% a year in real terms and reaching
£20.5bn extra a year by 2023/24.
Year one of the new settlement has produced an increase to the CCG’s core programme
funding allocation of 5.28%, which recognises the impact of national pay awards and
significant changes to national tariff and funding flows for NHS providers. The initial allocation
for primary care co-commissioning was uplifted by 7.4%, equating to £5.1m although
subsequent adjustments for nationally commissioned services have reduced this to £3m.
Running cost funding is largely unchanged for 2019/20 but a significant reduction has been
signalled for 2020/21 and the CCG has plans in place to work towards this during the coming
year.
The total change in allocations summarised below:
How much money is being allocated to the CCG for 2019/20
Adjusted
baseline

Adjusted
closing DfT

Final allocation
after place
based pace of
change

Growth
Quantum

Growth
Percentage

Final
closing
DfT

£m

%

£m

£m

%

%

Core Allocation

730.8

2.71

769.4

38.6

5.3

2.4

Primary Care Allocation

68.2

-4.31

73.3

5.1

7.4

-3.1

Running Cost Allocation

10.6

n/a

10.6

0

n/a

n/a

Total CCG funding

809.6

853.3

43.7

DfT = Distance from Target; target being the CCG fair share of national NHS resources as determined by a notional allocations
formula
((+) overfunding; (-) underfunding)
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NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG has set an initial budget for 2019/20 for the following
commissioned services:
£m
Acute & ambulance services

411

Mental health and learning disabilities contracts/S117

96

Community services

86

Continuing care and funded nursing care

70

Primary care and prescribing

91

Primary care commissioning

71

Other services

21

Total

846

A finance and activity plan has been formulated that brings together the commissioning plans
of the CCG with the delivery of national business rules/planning guidance, and the expected
contract activity and costs for 2019/20, whilst maintaining the financial obligations of the CCG.
Key assumptions within the plan meet the national business rules and include:
•

The CCG’s financial plans have been triangulated with providers to ensure efficiency
and activity assumptions are consistent.

•

Cumulative underspend – The financial plan for 2018/19 shows a cumulative
underspend of £14.6m which exceeds the required 1% minimum.

•

In year financial position – The financial plan shows an in-year breakeven position.

•

Local contingency - Newcastle Gateshead CCG continues to aside 0.5% of their
allocation as a contingency. This will form a key source of mitigation for any financial
risks identified in the final plan.

•

Administration costs – As required these costs are planned to remain within the specific
funding allocation for 2019/20. In 2020/21 CCGs are asked to deliver a 20% real terms
reduction against their 2017/18 running cost allocation, adjusted for the NHS pay
settlement.

•

Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) – The CCG has provided for at least 6%
investment in the MHIS which is in excess of percentage growth for 2019/20 on
programme budget.

•

Better Care Fund – The minimum requirement has been provided in line with previous
years.

•

Quality premium – Any funding received for Quality Premium achievement in 2018/19
will be applied on programme spend as required by guidance.

•

Efficiency plans to be consistent with underlying plans, with reduced reliance on
efficiency plans that are phased more heavily in the latter half of the year.
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Budgeted commissioning spend has also been adjusted for anticipated growth in line with
sustainability and transformation partnership estimates, as well as the impact of planned
investments and efficiency saving.
Our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plans total £13.3m, which
represents 1.6% of the total CCG revenue resource limit. They include a range of specific
schemes, including initiatives to reduce costs in primary and secondary care prescribing,
implementing the Right Care programme and plans focused on managing growth in acute
planned care. Where appropriate partners have been engaged to support delivery and risk
assessments developed to manage and mitigate in year implementation issues if they arise.
The financial environment continues to be challenging for both commissioners and providers in
2019/20, with all partners working across the health economy to balance improvements in
quality and performance in patient care with the need to deliver financial sustainability now and
in the future. More focused discussions across the local Integrated Commissioning
Partnership (ICP) have resulted in agreement of principles for system wide financial
management for the year.
We are also working with partners across the North East and Cumbria area to refresh the
overall financial plans, taking into account each organisation’s operational plans for the year
and starting to look forward to the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan.
Annual accounts
The annual accounts and primary financial statements for the reporting period have been
approved by the Governing Body as being prepared under directions issued by NHS England
and represent a true and fair view of the financial standing of the CCG.

Sustainable Development
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in a
way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure
healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and efficient
use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities.
By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both
in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources.
Spending money well and considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined in the
Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012).
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by
working hard to minimise our footprint.
Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our
process and procedures sustainability features.
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Area

Is sustainability considered?

Procurement
(environmental & social aspects)

Yes

Business Cases

Yes

Travel

Yes

Travel
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting active
travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the services
we commission.
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the
board for cost and carbon reductions. We support a culture for active travel to improve staff
wellbeing and reduce sickness.
The CCG actively manages business travel and encourages staff to use technology for
meetings e.g. tele-conferencing and when travel is needed, staff are encouraged to travel
together and to use the CCG’s electric vehicle when attending external appointments.

Electric vehicle
usage

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Journeys

69

117

54

75

Miles

1258

2438

1078

1467

Improve quality and safety
The CCG has a clear mechanism in place to discharge its duty under Section 14R of the NHS
Act 2006 (as amended) to improve the quality of services, as described in section 5.2.4 of the
CCG Constitution. The aim of the CCG is to ensure that the delivery of the commissioned
health services are based on a clinically led, patient focused and evidence based approach.
As identified in CCG’s Quality Strategy, the CCG utilises the Keogh framework to assure the
quality of the services it commissions from all sectors. This four stage methodology of quality
data analysis, triangulation, multi-disciplinary reviews and quality improvement ensures
consistency in the approach taken to monitoring, assuring and improving service quality across
all types of provider.
The CCG holds regular Quality Review Group (QRG) meetings with providers to review
performance, quality and safety. QRGs are held bi-monthly for large providers and quarterly for
smaller and third-sector providers. These meetings and associated work are reported for
assurance to the CCG Quality, Safety and Risk Committee. This is a committee of the
Governing Body; more information about the work of the committee is given in the Governance
Statement.
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The CCG has also implemented a General Practice Assurance Framework for assessing,
monitoring and improving quality in general practice. The framework utilises data from NHS
England, combined with local measures and soft intelligence to provide an all-round view of
practice quality and to risk rate each practice. Those practices that are risk rated as red are
visited by the quality team in order to better understand the issues facing the practice. Each
red or amber rated practice is required to produce and regularly update an action plan, which is
reviewed by the CCG, in order to demonstrate progress in quality improvement.
During 2018/19, the CCG undertook a total of 14 commissioner-led visits to a range of acute,
community and mental health services. In addition, a number of clinical shadowing sessions
took place, where CCG clinical staff shadowed community staff in services such as district
nursing and rapid response teams. In order to obtain the widest range of views possible during
each visit, the visiting team is normally three or four individuals and consists of a clinical
member, a lay member (or patient representative) and CCG and NECS Quality team
members.
As in previous years, overall the visits have been very positive and demonstrated care which is
being delivered to a high standard by professional and caring staff. The visits did not identify
any significant concerns and where recommendations were made these were minor in nature.

Engaging people and communities
Patient involvement and experience is at the heart of our work. Our aim is to transform lives
together by prioritising:
•

Involvement - of our communities and providers, to get the best understanding of issues
and opportunities

•

Experience – people centred services that are some of the best in the country

•

Outcome – focusing on preventing illness

In its most recent assessment [2018], the CCG was rated as ‘Good’ by NHS England for its
work to encourage patient and public participation, as well as being awarded a level of
‘substantial assurance’ from Audit One.
Over the past year, we have continued to strengthen our approach to patient and public
participation, increasing our Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) team to a total of four staff.
The team supports our stakeholder engagement structure and forums, as well as leading on
PPI work to share key developments within our delivery plan and ensure that local people are
able to influence our planning and decision making.
In March 2018, we developed a new structure for stakeholder engagement, bringing together
patients and organisations from Newcastle and Gateshead to focus on shared themes as well
as areas of concern to specific localities.
This structure, which reports regularly to our Governing Body and Executive, includes these
groups:
•

Patient, public and carer engagement forum - where patients and carers can share their
views with CCG decision-makers and influence decisions
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•

Involvement forum – which ensures that the voices of patients, public and carers are
embedded in the business of the CCG and its partners

•

Community forum – which brings together professionals representing specific groups
with protected characteristics and people in minority communities with experience of
being marginalised, to have a say in commissioning decisions and local services

Engaging with our communities
Our involvement strategy supports a wide range of steps to engage with community, voluntary
and patient participation groups. These include:
•

Bi-monthly meetings of the patient, public, carer and involvement forums, plus quarterly
meetings of the community forum

•

Patient representatives taking part in the commissioner visit programme

•

Increasing our capacity in a flexible way by contracting externally for additional
involvement support

•

We engage regularly with many community, voluntary and patient participation groups,
attending meetings to we are responding to local need by sharing issues, complaints
and compliments with appropriate teams within the CCG

•

Close working relationships with the community and voluntary sector, existing patient
and community groups

•

Providing information in accessible formats, as well as making effective use of the MY
NHS database and the ‘Get Involved’ section on our website

•

Reimbursing travel expenses to enable people to take part in events

•

Focus groups, which can be carried out by community and voluntary organisations with
their communities

•

One to one and telephone interviews, social media, on-street surveys, online and
printed surveys

•

Working closely with Healthwatch in Newcastle and Gateshead. Healthwatch have a
regular slot at the involvement forum and our engagement team regularly takes part in
Healthwatch events to hear patients’ views.

During the past year, we have simplified our external engagement support by replacing three
separate engagement contracts (with Involve North East, Deaflink and HAREF, the Health and
Race Equality Forum) with a single contract to engage with communities across the area.
The new contract was awarded to Involve North East, who started work under the new
arrangement on 1 January 2019.
Public and patient involvement annual report
For 2018/19 we have also produced an annual report outlining our involvement activity
throughout the year. This report brings to life some of our activity in an accessible way,
showing how our work with patients and the public has made a positive difference to the
services we commission. This report will be available soon on our website at
www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/engagement-work/involvement-annualreport.
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Review of our forums
During 2018, Healthwatch Newcastle led a review of the CCG’s three forums, listening to
members and exploring areas for improvement. The final report made six recommendations,
which we are currently working to implement:
1. The forums should have a purpose and people should know why they are coming,
with simpler, more user-friendly fact sheets available.
2. The forums should be more user led/co-led. As a result, the forums are now led by an
eight-member steering group which meets monthly to guide their direction.
3. Healthy balance of opportunities for discussion and presentations. The steering group
has therefore agreed to a maximum of two presentations per meeting, with a clear purpose
and a chance to discuss and feed back comments.
4. Ensure feedback is provided, so that people know how they have made a difference.
As a result, ‘You said, we considered’ is now a key part of every CCG update presentation,
as well as the PPI section in our newsletter and website.
5. Consider contacting some non-attendees to find out why they don’t attend. The
steering group is taking a number of steps, including a review of the mailing list, increased
promotion through advertising, social media and other networks, plus more information
about the forums so people can make an informed choice about attending meetings.
6. A range of changes highlighted by survey respondents, including shorter meetings,
wider publicity, earlier circulation of the agenda, a programme of themes, more focus with
good time management, user-friendly presentations, avoiding jargon and use of plain
English.
The Involvement and Patient, Public and Carer Engagement forums continued to meet
throughout the year with great success. Evaluations suggest that members feel valued and
that their views are taken into account in shaping the CCG’s work, while many tweets from
members have underlined this positive feedback:
•

5 Nov - Thank you to @NHSngccg for letting me visit today. Really interesting to
understand your role in commissioning, quality and safeguarding amongst complexity
@Piercy1Chris

•

29 Nov – I attended an informative & enjoyable meeting of @NHSngccg Patient, Public
& Carer Engagement Forum on Monday afternoon @GMBCouncil Gateshead Civic
Centre. Good presentations regarding National Diabetes Prevention Programme & from
HAREF @TheStrokeAssoc @HWNewcastle & NGCCG staff.

•

18 Jan - I attended the second meeting of @NHSngccg Steering Group for Involvement
& Patient, Public & Carer Engagement forums on Tuesday afternoon at Kings Gate
@UniofNewcastle. Good group discussion regarding setting priorities for future forums.
A well organised & facilitated meeting.

The Community Forum is hosted quarterly by HAREF and chaired by one of our lay members.
This group helps us to reach grassroots community groups and work with seldom heard
populations in the area, to share CCG plans and learn about the needs of our communities.
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During the past year, this included producing 4,000 Ramadan calendars, which provide useful
information about fasting safely with diabetes and stroke, as well as improving understanding
around how GP practices can offer better support for individual needs during Ramadan.
Newcastle urgent care review
More than 1200 people gave their views as part of a review of urgent care services in the
Newcastle, with the support of many community organisations.
This review, which includes walk-in centres at Westgate Road, Molineux Street and Ponteland
Road becoming GP-led Urgent Treatment Centres, is outlined in more detail in the
Performance Overview section.
While the part-time service at the Lemington Centre is not able to meet national requirements
to become an Urgent Treatment Centre, we listened to feedback showing how much people
value the service and will therefore maintain access to urgent primary care services at the site,
offering pre-bookable GP appointments to ensure that patients can access same-day primary
care when they need it.
We shared our findings through a series of local events and a report summarising all the
comments we received. Overall, local people were very positive about the changes to urgent
care, and the prospect of more appointments available across the area. A summary and easy
read document will be produced in spring 2019, with the Urgent Treatment Centres due to be
fully functioning in December 2019.
Children, young people and families
The CCG’s website now includes a Teenagers and Young People section, where young
people can share their views, find useful information and get involved in our work.
This links with our work in education, youth and community settings to ensure we meet the
needs of our young people. One example of this work was an event in December, where we
asked young people to help us develop a Written Statement of Action to improve the NHS and
councils communicate with families, children and young people. More information and photos
from this event are included in our annual Patient and Public Involvement report.
School assemblies
During the year we have attended year 9 school assemblies, to engage with young people age
13 and over, and inform them that they can book and attend GP appointments without parental
consent (subject to the Fraser guidelines).
This means they have the same right to confidentiality as adults. At the start of these sessions,
many of the young people thought their parents would have to be informed about their
appointment, but by the end, virtually all the young people were clear that they can book and
attend without their parents, if they are able to fully understand the medical outcome of their
consultation.
Newcastle Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) – written statement of
action
An Ofsted inspection of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) support provided
by the CCG and Newcastle City Council took place during April and May 2018. As well as
identifying areas of strength, the inspection identified a number of areas for improvement,
including working to ensure that parents are able to influence decisions through co-production.
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This has included working with schools, settings, partners and families to produce a written
statement of action, which sets out how we will address these concerns. Close partnership with
colleagues in education is helping to ensure that the voices of parents, carers and families, as
well as children and young people, are heard and captured as we work to improve services
over the next 18 months.
More information is available online about the Written Statement of Action and Newcastle’s
Local Offer for children and young people with special educational needs or disabilities and
their families.
The Little Orange Book
Described in more detail in the Performance Overview section, the CCG’s Little Orange Book
provides expert health advice to parents and carers of children under five.
During the past year, we have gathered feedback from families and healthcare professionals in
Newcastle and Gateshead, to find out more about how the Little Orange Book is used.
241 parents or carers responded, completing a total of 152 survey forms and 89 feedback
cards which covered the same themes. 142 healthcare professionals also shared their views.
The responses showed that most families received their copy from health visitors or practice
staff such as GPs, receptionists or nurses, with families showing strong support for the book.
64% of respondents had used the book an average of 2.4 times, with families indicating that
the book was helpful, made them more confident when they needed to ask for a same-day GP
appointment, and helped them to discuss their child’s illness with school or childcare settings
more confidently.
Full details can be downloaded from the CCG’s website.
Children and young people’s mental health
Following our area’s success in securing ‘trailblazer’ status (which is set out in more detail in
the Performance Overview section), the CCG is supporting the development of new mental
health support teams in three pilot areas. These cover Newcastle, Gateshead and work with
the Jewish community’s schools in Gateshead.
The aim is to improve mental health and emotional health and wellbeing for children and young
people to reduce the risk of more serious or complex mental health issues in later life.
We are working closely with colleagues in education and mental health services to ensure that
the new teams work successfully in schools with children and young people.
An engagement plan for this work is being developed, which will involve working with children
and young people, parents, carers, teachers and support staff in a co-productive way to shape
the work of the trailblazer support teams across the two years of the programme.
Patients with long-term conditions
Over the past three years, we have supported a group of patients with one or more long term
conditions, helping to improve care and support for patients.
The group meet every month to discuss issues around living with long-term conditions,
influence healthcare and raise awareness of their work among patients with long-term
conditions.
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The group has worked with GP practices in Gateshead and Newcastle to change the way they
organise appointments and provide support for people with conditions like diabetes, heart
disease or breathing conditions.
This means patients are better supported to manage their conditions, helping them to receive
effective care at the right time. As part of this work, we have produced two short films, to help
patients and health professionals to understand how care and support planning works.
The group has also published leaflets to promote their work and to help patients access
support and understand the care and support planning process
Older people
Supporting older people is a key priority for our CCG. Over the past year, we have worked with
older people and carers around frailty, including:
•

Carrying out an evaluation of national falls management guidance for care homes

•

Evaluating the National Early Warning System (NEWS), which monitors clinical
observations to provide a standardised means of identifying and responding to
deteriorating or acutely ill patients

•

Evaluating the use of transfer of care bags in care homes, to explore its effectiveness in
ensuring patients have their belongings returned after admission to secondary care

•

Ensuring patients and carers play a role in commissioning of dementia services.

British Sign Language
A new British Sign Language strategic group, chaired by the CCG’s Head of Quality and
Patient Experience, is working to improve access to health services for the BSL community
and improve patient experience.
The group includes representation from the North East Ambulance Service, Northumberland,
Tyne and Wear Foundation Trust (NTW), community and voluntary sector partners and North
of England Commissioning Support.
Improving patients’ experience of continuing healthcare
Our Patient and Public Involvement team is currently working to improve the information
provided to patients about continuing healthcare (CHC). Working with patients and families,
our aim is to ensure that all patients and their families can access clear, understandable
information available, and know where to get help and what to expect during the process. We
expect this work to be completed by autumn 2019.

Reducing health inequality
Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution,
the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health
and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient
involvement and involve and consult with the public.
We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people,
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developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced
below.

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which is
set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to:
•

Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the (Equality) Act

•

Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not

•

Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not

We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish:
•

Equality objectives, at least every four years

•

Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty

Governance
Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Audit committee
and the Governing Body. The committee ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory
and regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and delivers national
and regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues
and opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and escalation,
monitors progress against the equality strategy and supports us in the achievement of key
equality and diversity objectives.
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board outlining relevant updates
in relation to Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities.
Equality strategy
Our equality strategy was refreshed in 2016 and aims to ensure that the CCG promotes
equality of opportunity to all our patients, their families and carers, and our staff, and to
proactively address discrimination of any kind.
We are fully committed to meeting the diverse needs of our local population and workforce,
ensuring that none are placed at a disadvantage.
The Equality Delivery System 2 - our equality objectives
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been using
the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to
support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance
for the community, patients, carers and staff with protected characteristics that are outlined
within the Equality Act 2010. Working through the EDS2 framework has provided an
opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain insight into the local
population’s diverse health needs.
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The Governing Body approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that individuals,
communities and staff are treated equitably.
We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare our
equality objectives, our action plan and objectives are outlined below:
Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement, and ensure that services are
commissioned and designed to meet the needs of patients
Objective 2 – Ensure processes are in place to provide information in a variety of
communication methods to meet the needs of patients, in particular the ageing
population and those with a disability, impairment or sensory loss
Objective 3 – Monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are engaged,
supported and represent the population they serve
Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and promotes
equality and diversity throughout the organisation
Our staff - encouraging diversity
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise the
benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our organisation.
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are identified as
meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable adjustments under the
Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the recruitment process and during
employment.
By working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level
2 Disability Employer’ status for 2018 - 2020 by
demonstrating our commitment to employing the right people
for our business and continually developing our people.

Workforce race equality standard
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and Diversity
Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME)
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES).
We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts and aim
to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic
staff.
Equality impact assessments
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core business
processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population, patients and staff’s
diverse health needs.
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race,
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and
Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers, as well as including prompts
for engagement with protected groups the tool also aids compliance with the Accessible
Information Standard.
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Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies, procedures
and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take
immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action plan set out in the tool. This will
ensure equity of service delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously
monitor progress against challenges identified to monitor and reduce inequality for our local
population.
Accessible information standard
The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that disabled people have access to
information that they can understand, and access to any communication support they might
need.
The standard tells organisations how to make information accessible to patients, service users
and their carers and parents. This includes making sure that people get information in different
formats if they need it, such as large print, braille, easy read, and via email.
The CCG has due regard to the standard by obtaining feedback from the CCG’s Patient Public
Involvement Forum who review key documentation and our engagement, advising how we can
improve our communication methods to make them more accessible.
Further information on the standard can be found on the NHS England website.
Health inequalities
We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health
services for our local population.
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint strategic
needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health
profiles as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to
engage hard to reach groups.
Our organisation comprises 62 GP practices across Newcastle and Gateshead. The health of
people in Newcastle upon Tyne and Gateshead is generally worse than the England average.
We face numerous challenges across Newcastle and Gateshead, including:
•

An ageing population with increasing health needs

•

Health inequalities across the area

•

Levels of smoking, alcohol consumption and obesity higher than the national average

•

Over-reliance on hospital based services

•

Increasing high cost drugs and cost of new medical technologies

•

Limited growth in financial allocations in future years

About 25% of children in Newcastle and 20% of children in Gateshead live in low income
families. Life expectancy for men is 77 years and women 81 years, both slightly lower than the
England average.
In relation to inequalities, life expectancy is 12.9 years lower for men and 10.4 years lower for
women in comparison to the most deprived and least deprived areas of Newcastle upon Tyne
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and 9.6 years lower for men and 8.8 years lower for women in comparison to the most and
least deprived areas of Gateshead.
We work in partnership with local NHS trusts as well as local voluntary sector organisations
and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community we serve to
improve health and healthcare for the local population.
For our CCG area, only 4.2% of hospitalisation records have an unknown ethnic group
compared to the national England average of 6.6%.
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input,
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at
community events and engagement activity including Patient Involvement Forums, targeted
engagement, surveys, focus groups and working closely with Healthwatch.
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders. We aim to
ensure that comments and back from our local communities are captured and, where possible,
giving local people the opportunity to influence local health services and enable people to have
their say using a variety of communication methods enabling them to influence the way NHS
health services are commissioned.
Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with other local
NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the Equality,
Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings.
Further information can be found on these websites:
Health Profiles
Public Health England – local health
Newcastle JSNA
Gateshead JSNA
More detailed information about equality and health inequalities is available online in the NHS
Newcastle Gateshead CCG data pack.

Health and wellbeing strategy
We work in close partnership with both Newcastle City Council and Gateshead Council and
actively support the development and delivery of the joint health and wellbeing strategies. The
Local Authority Directors of Public Health are in attendance at the CCG Governing Body and
provide a progress report at each meeting. Through our work with them, and active
engagement at the health and wellbeing boards, we have confirmed the CCG's contribution to
the delivery of the joint health and wellbeing strategies.
CCG Governing Body members are also members of the Health and Wellbeing Board in
Gateshead and the Wellbeing for Life Board in Newcastle. In addition to regular attendance at
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the Boards throughout 2018/19 and participation in the full range of business, the CCG has
brought specific issues for the consideration of the Boards including:
•

NHS funding, organisation and forward plan

•

Health and care integration and reform

•

Children and young people’s mental health and emotional wellbeing transformation
plan

•

Update on the NHS Long Term Plan

•

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) waiting times

•

Personal Health Budgets

•

Better Care Fund 2018/19
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
21st May 2019
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Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
The CCG is made up of 62 GP practices in Newcastle and Gateshead. The 62
practices are:
Member practices

Practice name
108 Rawling Road

Practice name
I J Healthcare

Avenue Medical Practice

Longrigg Medical Centre

Beacon View Medical Centre

Metro Interchange Surgery

Benfield Park Medical Group

Millennium Family Practice

Bensham Family Practice

Newburn Surgery

Betts Avenue Medical Group

Newcastle Medical Centre

Bewick Road Surgery

Oldwell Surgery
Oxford Terrace & Rawling Road Medical
Group
Parkway Medical Centre

Biddlestone Health Group
Birtley Medical Group
Blaydon GP Practice & Minor Injuries /
illness unit
Bridges Medical Centre

Pelaw Medical Centre
Primary Health Care Centre (Chopwell)

Broadway Medical Group

Prospect House Medical Group

Brunton Park Surgery

Regent Medical Centre

Central Gateshead Medical Group

Roseworth Surgery

Chainbridge Medical Partnership

Saville Medical Group

Crawcrook Surgery

Second Street Surgery

Crowhall Medical Centre

St Anthony's Health Centre

Cruddas Park Surgery

St. Albans Medical Group

Denton Park Medical Group

Sunniside Surgery

Denton Turret Medical Centre

Teams Medical Practice

Dilston Medical Centre

The Grove Medical Group

Fell Cottage Surgery

The Medical Centre (Rowlands Gill)

Fell Tower Medical Centre

The Park Medical Group

Fenham Hall Surgery

The Surgery, Osborne Road

Glenpark Medical Centre

Thornfield Medical Group
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Practice name
Gosforth Memorial Medical Centre

Practice name
Throckley Primary Care Centre

Grainger Medical Group

Walker Medical Group

Grange Road

West Road Medical Group

Heaton Road Surgery

Westerhope Medical Group

Holly Medical Group

Whickham Health Centre

Holmside Medical Group

Wrekenton Medical Group

The Chair of the CCG
The Chair of the CCG from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 was Dr Mark Dornan, a
GP in Gateshead. Dr Guy Pilkington, a GP in Newcastle was the Assistant Clinical
Chair.
Chief Officer
Mark Adams is the Chief Officer and Accountable Officer of the CCG and has been
in post from the CCG’s inception on 1 April 2015.
Commissioning Forum
The CCG Commissioning Forum comprises a nominated GP from each of the 62 GP
practices which form the CCG membership. Its terms of reference require it to meet
quarterly and not less than three times per calendar year. The commissioning forum
met on four occasions during 2018/19, including the Annual Members Meeting in
September 2018.

Page 45

The CCG Governing Body
The membership of the CCG Governing Body is set out in the CCG constitution. The
composition of the Governing Body of the CCG during 2018/19 was as follows:
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG Governing Body

Name
Dr Mark Dornan

Title
Clinical Chair

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair

Mark Adams

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)

Michael Burke

Lay member

Mandy Coppin

Lay member

Paul Gertig

Lay member

Jeff Hurst

Lay member: Deputy Chair of the Governing Body

Margaret Stewart

Lay member

Oliver Wood

Lay member

Sheinaz Stansfield

Practice representative

Tracey Stuchlik

Practice representative (from 1 September 2018)

Dr Peter Ward

Practice representative

Jackie Cairns

Director of System Enablement

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating Officer

Bill Cunliffe

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director (to 31 January 2019)

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations, Delivery & Commissioning

Chris Piercy

Executive Director of Nursing, Patient Safety and Quality

Dr Dominic Slowie

Interim Medical Director (from 1 February 2019)

Julia Young

Director of Complex Care and Commissioning
Neil Hawkins, Head of Corporate Affairs

In attendance (nonvoting)

Prof. Eugene Milne, Director of Public Health, Newcastle
Lynn Wilson, Joint Director with Gateshead Council – Joint
Director of Commissioning, Quality & Performance
Alice Wiseman, Director of Public Health, Gateshead

The function of the Governing Body can be found in the governance statement.

Page 46

Audit Committee
The membership of the Audit Committee comprises the lay member who leads on
audit and governance, at least one other lay member and one other member with the
relevant skills and experience as nominated by the Governing Body. Audit
Committee membership 2018/19 was:
•

Michael Burke, Lay Member for Audit and conflict of interest matters (Chair)

•

Jeff Hurst, Lay Member and Deputy Chair of the Governing Body

•

Oliver Wood, Lay Member

•

Mr Bill Cunliffe, secondary care clinician (nominated by the Governing Body)

Joe Corrigan, Chief Finance and Operating Officer is the lead officer for the
committee and is invited to all meetings. Mark Adams, Chief Officer, attends the
committee at least annually.
The function of the Audit Committee can be found in the governance statement.
CCG staff
Details of CCG staff are given in the remuneration and staff report section of this
annual report.
North of England Commissioning Support (NECS)
Commissioning Support Units were introduced in the NHS as part of the
commissioning reforms to provide commissioning support at scale to a number of
CCGs under a service level agreement. We have a service level agreement (SLA) in
place with the North of England Commissioning Support service (NECS).
NECS provide us with a range of commissioning support services, including, for
example, communications, human resources management, business intelligence,
information governance, financial and payment processes and management
accounting.
Register of Interests
The CCG has arrangements in place for the effective management of conflicts of
interest. Details of company directorships and other significant interests held by
members of the Governing Body, Executive committee and other CCG committees
are recoded in the Register of Interests.
The Register of Interests is available on the CCG website at:
http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/publications/
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Personal data related incidents
The CCG reported no data incidents to the Information Commissioners Officer during
2018/19.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:
•

So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report

•

The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements
for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Newcastle
Gateshead CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,

•

For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),

•

For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).

•

The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,

•

Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),

•

Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
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•

Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the
Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the Department
of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual have been followed,
and disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and,

•

Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and

•

Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual
Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it
is fair, balanced and understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information.

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
21st May 2019
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate
established by NHS England on 1 April 2015 under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2019, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006, nor has it been during 2018/19.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG has a constitution which sets out clearly the governing structure of the
organisation and the decision making that takes place at the Commissioning Forum
and Governing Body. This is supported by a scheme of delegation which sets out
further detail of decisions delegated to Committees and individuals.
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Commissioning Forum
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a Commissioning Forum, comprising the
elected members of each general practice within the group. This provides clinicallyled direction on areas of commissioning for health care services and is constituted of
appointed practice representatives and other primary care representatives who will
use the groups as vehicles for determining needs in relation to both patient services
and practice development.
The Commissioning Forum was operational throughout the 2018/19 financial year
and has continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of
reference, meetings of Commissioning Forum are normally held quarterly, and not
less than three times per financial year. The Commissioning Forum met on four
occasions during 2018/19, including the Annual Members Meeting in September
2018, in order to discharge the responsibilities as determined by the scheme of
reservation and delegation and terms of reference.
The Commissioning Forum has determined to delegate the majority of the decisionmaking responsibility to the Governing Body and its sub-committees.
The 2018/19 attendance records for the Commissioning Forum are given in the
following table:
Commissioning Forum attendance record

Practice name

Total

Practice name

Total

108 Rawling Road

1/4

I J Healthcare

3/4

Avenue Medical Practice

4/4

Longrigg Medical Centre

4/4

Beacon View Medical Centre

4/4

Metro Interchange Surgery

3/4

Benfield Park Medical Group

4/4

Millennium Family Practice

3/4

Bensham Family Practice

4/4

Newburn Surgery

3/4

Betts Avenue Medical Group

3/4

Newcastle Medical Centre

1/4

Bewick Road Surgery

4/4

4/4

Biddlestone Health Group

4/4

Birtley Medical Group
Blaydon GP Practice & Minor
Injuries / illness unit

2/4

Oldwell Surgery
Oxford Terrace & Rawling Road
Medical Group
Parkway Medical Centre

0/4

Pelaw Medical Centre

1/4

Bridges Medical Centre

3/4

Broadway Medical Group

4/4

Primary Health Care Centre
(Chopwell)
Prospect House Medical Group

Brunton Park Surgery

4/4

Regent Medical Centre

4/4

Central Gateshead Medical
Group

4/4

Roseworth Surgery

4/4
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3/4
4/4

4/4
3/4

Practice name

Total

Practice name

Total

Chainbridge Medical Partnership

3/4

Saville Medical Group

3/4

Crawcrook Surgery

3/4

Second Street Surgery

3/4

Crowhall Medical Centre

1/4

St Anthony's Health Centre

4/4

Cruddas Park Surgery

3/4

St. Albans Medical Group

4/4

Denton Park Medical Group

3/4

Sunniside Surgery

3/4

Denton Turret Medical Centre

4/4

Teams Medical Practice

4/4

Dilston Medical Centre

4/4

3/4

Fell Cottage Surgery

4/4

Fell Tower Medical Centre

2/4

The Grove Medical Group
The Medical Centre (Rowlands
Gill)
The Park Medical Group

Fenham Hall Surgery

3/4

The Surgery, Osborne Road

2/4

Glenpark Medical Centre
Gosforth Memorial Medical
Centre
Grainger Medical Group

4/4

Thornfield Medical Group

1/4

3/4

Throckley Primary Care Centre

4/4

4/4

Walker Medical Group

4/4

Grange Road

0/4

West Road Medical Group

3/4

Heaton Road Surgery

4/4

Westerhope Medical Group

3/4

Holly Medical Group

4/4

Whickham Health Centre

4/4

Holmside Medical Group

3/4

Wrekenton Medical Group

4/4

4/4
4/4

Governing Body
The Governing Body is constituted in accordance with the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 and the National Health Service (Clinical Commissioning Groups)
Regulations 2012. The terms of reference for the Governing Body are set out in the
CCG constitution and include the membership.
During 2018/19 the Governing Body met on six occasions in public and six
occasions in private. Agendas are structured to deal with public and patient
involvement, quality, finance, performance, strategic, governance and public health
issues. The arrangements meet the requirements of best practice guidance in
respect of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability framework has
been established. They reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and
openness and specify as Accountable Officer my responsibility for ensuring that
these values are met within the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Members of the Governing Body have undertaken a process of self-assessment and
annual appraisal. The outcome was presented to members and discussed in private
session in June 2018.
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A self-assessment of effectiveness is to be undertaken in spring 2019, the results of
which will help inform the 2019/20 Governing Body development programme.

Attendance records for CCG Governing Body and committees
The 2018/19 attendance records for the Governing Body and committees are given
in the following table:

Remuneration
Committee

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee

Quality, Safety &
Risk Committee

Audit Committee

Governing Body

Governing Body attendance record

Role / title

Dr Mark Dornan

Clinical Chair 1

6/6

10/12

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair 2

5/6

8/12

Mark Adams

Chief Officer 3

5/6

1/1

Michael Burke

Lay member

5

5/6

5/5

Mandy Coppin

Lay member 6

4/6

Paul Gertig

Lay member

6/6

Jeff Hurst

Deputy Lay Chair 4

5/6

Margaret Stewart

Lay member 7

4/6

Oliver Wood

Lay member

1/6

Sheinaz Stansfield
Tracey Stuchlik
Dr Peter Ward
Jackie Cairns
Joe Corrigan
Mr Bill Cunliffe
Dr Neil Morris
Jane Mulholland
Chris Piercy

Member Practice
Representative
Member Practice
Representative (from 1
September 2018)
Member Practice
Representative
Director of System
Enablement
Chief Finance and
Operating Officer
Secondary Care
Specialist Doctor
Medical Director (to 31
January 2019)
Director of Operations,
Delivery and
Commissioning
Executive Director of
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Executive
Committee

Name

9/12
4/4
5/10
6/6

4/5

4/5
4/5

9/10
6/6

4/4
3/5

4/5

4/5

5/6
3/4
6/6
6/6

9/12

5/6

5/5

4/6

4/5

12/12
3/6

6/10

7/12

5/5

5/5

8/8

9/10

6/6

0/4

9/10

10/12

4/6

5/6

9/12

Dr Dominic Slowie

Nursing, Patient Safety
and Quality
Interim Medical Director
(from 1 February 2019)

Dr Steve Summers

Clinical Director

Julia Young

Director of Quality
Development

2/2

1/1

3/3

7/7

9/10

11/12

4/6

10/12

Notes:
1 Chair of the Governing Body throughout 2018/19
2 Chair of the Executive Committee throughout 2018/19
3 The Chief Officer is required to attend the Audit Committee once per year
4 Chair of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee
5 Chair of the Audit Committee
6 Chair of the Remuneration Committee
7 Chair of the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee

We have continued to operate with a committee structure which reflects guidance
and best practice, including an Audit Committee incorporating the business of the
Finance and Performance Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a Quality, Safety
and Risk Committee, a Primary Care Commissioning Committee and an Executive
Committee.
Terms of reference have been agreed for these committees which support the
organisation in the delivery of effective governance. Lay membership of committees
is set out in the terms of reference.
The organisational structure including key committees is set out below.

NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG committee structure
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was operational throughout the 2018/19 financial year and has
continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of reference,
meetings of the Audit Committee are normally held bi-monthly, and not less than five
times per financial year. The Audit Committee met on five occasions during 2018/19.
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the organisation with
an independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial information
and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The Audit
Committee also encompasses the functions of the Finance and Performance
Committee.
The committee’s cycle of business includes review of the Clinical Commissioning
Group Assurance Framework and corporate risk register. The committee is a nonexecutive committee of the Governing Body and has no executive powers, other
than those specifically delegated in its terms of reference.
The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to
the CCG’s constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
The Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides an annual report of
its work to the Governing Body. The most recent report available covers 2018/19.
The principal purpose of the report is to give the Governing Body an assurance as to
the work carried out to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal
control arrangements.
The committee’s cycle of business enables the Audit Committee to carry out its key
objectives necessary to support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the
organisation’s internal controls.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee met on 5 occasions during 2018/19. In accordance
with the terms of reference, meetings of the Remuneration Committee will be held as
and when required, but not less than once per financial year.
The Remuneration Committee is established to advise/recommend to the Governing
Body the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and
other staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework.
The committee also advises/recommends to the Governing Body remuneration for
the role of chair and reviews any business cases for early retirement and
redundancy. The committee’s terms of reference are described in a document
separate to the CCG’s constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
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Quality, Safety and Risk Committee
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee was operational throughout 2018/19 and
has continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of reference,
meetings of the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee will be held not less than six
times per financial year. The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee met on six
occasions during 2018/19.
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee assists the Governing Body in its duty to
secure continuous improvement in the quality of services, improve the quality of
primary medical services and promote research and use of research. It provides
assurance to the governing body about the quality, safety and risks of the services
being commissioned, and the overall risks to the organisation’s strategic and
operational plans.
The committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to the
CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
Significantly, during the year through its cycle of business, the Quality, Safety and
Risk Committee and its associated sub-committee has considered the following
issues:
•

Quality monitoring reports on provider commissioned services, including the
reporting of serious untoward incidents and never events

•

Healthcare acquired infections

•

Risk Management Strategy and Governance Framework

•

Information governance

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee was operational throughout 2018/19 and has continued to
operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of reference, meetings of the
Executive Committee will normally be at least monthly, and not less than eight times
per financial year. The Executive Committee met on 12 occasions during 2018/19.
The Executive Committee is a management committee which supports the CCG, its
Governing Body and the Accountable Officer in the discharge of their functions. It
assists the Governing Body in its duties to promote a comprehensive health service,
reduce inequalities and promote innovation. Its remit includes development and
implementation of strategy, monitoring and delivery of delegated duties, operational,
financial, contractual and clinical performance as well as ensuring the coordination
and monitoring of risks and internal controls.
It has authority to make decisions as set out within its terms of reference and the
CCG’s scheme of delegation.
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The principal role of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) is to
commission primary medical services for the people of Newcastle and Gateshead.
The remit and responsibilities of the PCCC shall be to carry out the functions relating
to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act.
The functions of the Committee are undertaken in the context of a desire to promote
increased quality, efficiency, productivity and value for money and to remove
administrative barriers.
NHS England has delegated to the CCG authority to exercise primary care
commissioning functions that include but are not limited to the following activities:
•

Decisions in relation to General Medical Services (GMS), Personal Medical
Services (PMS) and Alternative Providers of Medical Services (APMS)
contracts

•

To manage the budget for commissioning of primary medical care services

•

Decisions in relation to newly designed enhanced services (Local Enhanced
Services and Directed Enhanced Services)

•

Decisions in relation to local incentive schemes, including the design and
implementation of such schemes

•

To plan primary medical care services, including Primary Care needs
assessments

•

To undertake reviews of primary medical care services

•

Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area

•

Approving practice mergers and de-mergers

•

Decisions on practice closures

•

Planning new primary care estate

•

Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner/retainer schemes)

•

Responsibility for GP practice contract management and performance

•

Discussions in relation to the management of poorly performing GP practices
(excluding any decision in relation to the performers list).

In accordance with the terms of reference, meetings of the Primary Care
Commissioning Committee will be held not less than four times per financial year.
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met on 10 occasions during 2018/19.
The committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to the
CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
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Northern CCG Joint Committee
The Northern CCG Joint Committee was established with effect from October 2017
and is a committee of the Governing Body. The Joint Committee will make decisions
on subjects recommended to it by the Northern CCG Forum.
Membership of both the Forum and the Joint Committee is made up of
representatives from the twelve CCGs from across Cumbria and the North East, with
the Clinical Chair and Chief Officer attending on behalf of Newcastle Gateshead
CCG.
Business of the Joint Committee will be confined to issues that pertain to all CCG
areas in Cumbria and the North East – initially the commissioning of specialist acute
services and ‘111’ services.
Meetings are held in public with members of the public invited to attend to observe
the Joint Committee at work.

UK Corporate Governance Code
As an NHS body we are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance
Code. However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by
drawing on best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate
Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group
and best practice.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, and up to the date of signing this
statement, we had regard to the provisions set out in the code, and applied the
principles of the code.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
The arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained
within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with on-going expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal
advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing
Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all
of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I
can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.
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Directorate structures are periodically reviewed alongside the service agreement
with the Commissioning Support Unit to ensure as far as possible the necessary
capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s
statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
A Risk Management Policy is in place which takes into account current guidance on
risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO
31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient
Safety Agency in its approach to assessing risk.
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and
management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to
commission high quality and safe services. It provides guidance for the systematic
and effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk Management Policy
include:
•

A clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for delivery
of the policy

•

Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process

•

A clearly defined process for delivering the policy including an implementation
plan to ensure that the policy and risk management awareness is
communicated to all staff

•

Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk

•

An agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from
adverse events

•

Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register

Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms
including the incident reporting system which identifies the risks that have already (or
nearly) occurred from incidents or near misses; through our strategic planning
system which ensures that all organisational objectives are rated for risks to
achievement of delivery; and in our performance management system which rates all
objectives for risk to delivery. In addition all Governing Body and committee reports
are assessed for equality impact.
Initial risks are rated according to impact and likelihood. Controls and assurances
are then identified to ensure risks are being managed and mitigated. Residual risk
ratings are then agreed and recorded, with a review date. The risk management
policy sets out the arrangements for the escalation of risk.
The Governing Body assurance framework is reviewed by the Audit Committee and
presented to the Governing Body for approval at regular intervals throughout the
year. It remains under active review as it enables the Governing Body to be sighted
on the risks to the delivery of the organisation’s principal objectives and to ensure
that effective controls and assurance are in place.
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Capacity to handle risk
As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for:
•

Ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management strategy,
including effective risk management systems and internal controls

•

The development of the corporate governance and assurance framework

•

Meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance
towards our strategic objectives

Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for:
•

Co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the
risk management strategy

•

Ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to
implement improvements

•

Ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk
management responsibilities in relation to the risk management strategy

•

Incorporating risk management as a management technique within the
performance management arrangements for the organisation

All members of staff are aware of their responsibilities in relation to the risk
management strategy and policy. This ensures that risk is seen as the responsibility
of all members of staff and not just senior managers.

Risk Assessment
The CCG’s approach to risk management ensures that all risks are captured and
monitored in line with the CCG’s Risk Management Policy. Current and potential
risks are captured in the CCG’s risk register and include actions and timescales
identified to minimise such risks. The risk register is a log of risks that threaten the
organisation’s success in achieving its aims and objectives and is populated through
a risk assessment and evaluation process. The register is updated on a bi-monthly
basis by the CCG’s Head of Corporate Affairs with support from North of England
Commissioning Support.
Assurance and reporting
Operational risks are captured in the Risk Register but not in the Assurance
Framework which is comprised of the CCG’s strategic risks.
Risk registers are reviewed on a bi-monthly basis:
•

Quality, Safety and Risk Committee receives the Assurance Framework

•

Executive Committee receives a report on the full risk register
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•

Audit Committee receives the Assurance Framework and an operational
register and is responsible for approving the closure of risks

•

Governing Body receives the Assurance Framework

Each risk has an initial score, a residual score and a target score, with the residual
score representing the current rating.
Whenever risks to the achievement of CCGs’ objectives have been identified
appropriate controls are put in place to eliminate the risk or mitigate its effect. To do
this, a standard risk assessment matrix is used which is based on current national
guidance, but has been adapted to suit the CCG’s agreed risk appetite.
Using this standardised tool ensures that risk assessments are undertaken in a
consistent manner using agreed definitions and evaluation criteria. This allows for
comparisons to be made between different risk types and for decisions to be made
on the resources needed to mitigate the risk.
Risks are assessed in terms of the likelihood of occurrence/re-occurrence and the
consequences of impact. An initial risk rating is applied to the risk based on current
controls. An action plan is then developed based on any gaps identified in putting
control measures in place. The action plan identifies further mitigating actions to
ensure adequate controls are in place. Risks are reassessed to take account of the
effectiveness of the controls. Reassessment then determines a residual risk rating.
Risk matrix

Consequence

Likelihood

1
(Catastrophic)
2
(Major)
3
(Moderate)
4
(Minor)
5
(Negligible)

1
(rare)

2
(unlikely)

3
(possible)

4
(likely)

5
(almost
certain)

5

10

15

20

25

4

8

12

16

20

3

6

9

12

15

2

4

6

8

10

1

2

3

4

5

For grading risk, the scores obtained from the risk matrix are assigned grades as
follows:
Green

1-9

Low

Amber

10-12

Medium

Red

15-25

High
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Risks were identified in relation to all of the corporate objectives set for 2018/19, with
significant strategic risks (high and medium) that have been on the assurance
framework throughout the year listed below:
•

The requirement to meet statutory financial duties and the control total set by
NHS England as increasing pressures on the CCG finances continue,
particularly from demographic pressures. In 2018/19 QIPP we had plans in
place to deliver the £22m required to achieve the CCG control total, as agreed
with NHS England. These plans have been under constant review throughout
2018/19 with the aim of achieving the very challenging target. This risk has
remained on the risk register throughout 2018/19 and will be reviewed and
updated to reflect revised QIPP targets for 2019/20.

•

Capacity, workload and resilience in primary care: the risk that increasing
pressures on GP practices may result in the CCG being unable to commission
sufficient primary care to transform services to provide the best care possible
to the population of Newcastle and Gateshead. Investment in line with the GP
Five Year Forward View remains in place to mitigate this risk and position the
CCG to commission access to primary care that meets health needs. This risk
has remained on the risk register throughout most of 2018/19. In late 2018,
the risk was reviewed and revised into two separate risks – one looking at the
resilience of General Practice due to workload issues and another, separate
risk looking at the resilience of General Practice due to workforce issues.
These revised risks were scored medium (amber) and will remain on the
register at the start of 2019/20.

•

Increasing activity and cost associated with Continuing Health Care (CHC)
resulting in a high impact on the CCG’s financial position. This risk remained
on the assurance framework throughout 2018/19 with a medium (amber)
rating. CHC spend is monitored carefully throughout the year and reported as
part of the Integrated Delivery Report presented to Executive Committee,
Audit Committee and Governing body every two months. This risk will be kept
under review and will remain on the assurance framework at the beginning of
2019/20.

The CCG also maintains a number of operational risks which are present on the risk
register but not on the Assurance Framework. These risks are also closely monitored
at CCG Committee meetings including Executive Committee and Audit Committee.
These operational risks are often time limited risks and therefore not included as
strategic risks on the Assurance Framework. Significant additions to the operational
risk register this year include risks associated with Brexit.
Mitigating action plans have been put in place to address all risks and progress has
been monitored closely by the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee, Audit Committee,
Executive Committee and the Governing Body.
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Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control allows risk to
be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of the
clinical commissioning group, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically.
A system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the whole of the year
ending 31 March 2019 and up to the date of the approval of the statement of
accounts.
The Internal Audit service is an important aspect of assurance on the system of
internal control through a risk based programme of work. This provides assurance on
key systems of control within the CCG through formal reporting to Audit Committee.
The Head of Internal Audit also has direct access to the Audit Committee Chair as
required.
Statutory and mandatory training has been undertaken by all members of staff during
2018/19, including compliance with health and safety requirements and information
governance requirements. The CCG is committed to a process of continuing
professional development, directed through the formal appraisal system.
The CCG has a range of policies in place which contribute to the system of internal
control. The three policy areas are corporate, human resources and information
governance with a suite of standard operating procedures to support them. Policies
are reviewed and revised on a regular basis determined by their revision date.
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS
England has published a template audit framework.
The CCG has carried out the annual internal audit of conflicts of interest. The
outcome is an assurance rating of ‘substantial’ with no significant issues identified.
Data Quality
We receive data on quality, performance, finance and contracts which brings
together the key strands of provider management responsibility. This ensures that no
single aspect of this element of business is seen in isolation and provides an explicit
link between finance, quality and performance issues.
Data is also received in relation to human resources, statutory and mandatory
training and freedom of information requests which inform the governing body of
progress and issues in those areas.
The Governing Body considers the data received to be of an acceptable standard.
Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and have
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the Data
Security & Protection Toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual
information governance training and have implemented a staff information
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have developed information risk assessment and management
procedures and continue to develop our systems to fully embed an information risk
culture throughout the organisation against identified risks.
The information governance agenda is reviewed at the Quality, Safety and Risk
Committee. The Caldicott Guardian and the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)
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also play an important role in maintaining a robust approach to information
governance.
The Data Security & Protection (DSP) Toolkit has replaced the Information
Governance Toolkit in 2018/19. It is an online system which allows NHS
Organisations and partners to assess themselves against Department of Health and
Social Care Information Governance policies and standards. All NHS organisations
are required to carry out self-assessments.
Newcastle Gateshead CCG’s DSP Toolkit was published ahead of schedule on 25th
March 2019 and all 70 mandatory assertions for CCGs were completed.
The Toolkit was also subject to audit by Audit One. The final audit report has been
received and the feedback in terms of additional information required was very
minimal and in most cases refers to assertions that were not yet complete at the time
of audit.
We comply with our statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the
year we received 215 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. All were
responded to within the statutory timescales.
Business Critical Models
We have a Business Continuity Management Plan, which is a live document and
was formally approved by the Governing Body in January 2019. We do not have any
business critical models.
Third party assurances
The CCG relies on several external support services providers in respect of some of
its business functions, including the North of England Commissioning Support
(NECS), the NHS Shared Business Service (SBS), Electronic Staff Records (ESR)
(IBM), Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (payroll), Capita (primary care
co-commissioning), NHS Digital (GP payments) and the NHS Business Services
Authority (BSA).
These organisations provide service auditor reports as part of the evidence of
assurance on their internal system of controls as required by their customers. These
service auditor reports are considered by the Audit Committee and internal audit also
consider service auditor reports as part of the overall year-end internal audit opinion.

Control Issues
Significant control issues are those issues that might prejudice the achievement of
priorities, undermine the integrity or reputation of the CCG and/or wider NHS, made
it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, have a material impact on the
accounts or put national security of data integrity at risk.
There are no significant control issues currently facing the CCG.
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Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of
resources
The CCG has well-developed internal systems and processes in place for managing
resources with regard to economy, efficiency and the effective use of resources.
Internal systems and processes are underpinned by the governance structure that
includes the Audit Committee, with terms of reference as noted above.
All clinical commissioning groups in England are subject to an annual assessment
which examines key objectives and priorities in relation to the CCG improvement and
assessment framework, and the NHS Five Year Forward View.
The assessors highlighted a great many positive achievements and examples of
outstanding leadership for 2017-18, NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG received an
overall rating of ‘outstanding’, the highest possible rating available.
NHS England publishes the CCG assessment outcomes on My NHS
www.nhs.uk/mynhs. The latest available results for 2017/18 show the CCG Quality
of Leadership Indicator rated as ‘green star’ – the highest rating available. The
Quality of Leadership year end rating for 2018/19 will be published in the coming
weeks.
Lead directors had agreed key roles in the implementation of the plans and the
refinement of financial sustainability plans continued to be led by them.
The Integrated Delivery Report (IDR) is presented at the Finance and Performance
section of each meeting of the Audit Committee, and is also presented and
discussed at the Executive Committee and the Governing Body. From a more
operational perspective, the Corporate Management Team meetings include a
Financial Sustainability Group which focuses on the development and delivery of the
CCG’s annual QIPP programme.
Member practices continue to be crucial to delivering our local efficiency savings,
through tackling variation and ensuring ‘Right Care’ principles are in place. Practices
are supported by named CCG staff who continued the programme of regular practice
visits throughout the year to review performance against specific practice action
plans addressing these key issues. The CCG also commissions prescribing support
staff to work in practices to facilitate the efficient and effective use of resources.
We have continued our detailed review of costs incurred against contracts
throughout the year. Contract management meetings were supported by detailed
reporting showing actual activity and cost against planned levels across all points of
delivery and this was supported by more detailed analysis where there was
significant variance to plan. Internal meetings such as the Finance Sustainability
Group were used to link contract discussions with the practice liaison work.
It is important that our financial reporting supports collective and comprehensive
assurance on patient safety, quality and performance which is critical to ensuring
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of CCG resources. Our ‘Integrated
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Delivery Report’ is the vehicle for corporate reporting throughout the organisation
and crucially gives visibility and enables triangulation of patient safety, quality
performance and financial matters arising from commissioned services.
Delegation of functions
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the
provision of back office services and functions and as such has established an
internal control system to gain assurance from these. These external services
include:
•

The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support
from NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business
Services is mandated by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in
producing NHS England group financial accounts through the use of an
integrated financial ledger system

•

The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS)

•

The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust

•

The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from IBM

Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service
audit reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service
providers. The outcomes from these audits are reported to the Audit Committee.
Counter fraud arrangements
Our counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s
financial viability and probity. An annual counter fraud plan is agreed by the Audit
Committee, which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation
of fraud.
Through our contract with Audit One, we have counter fraud arrangements in place
that comply with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for Commissioners:
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption.
•

An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter
fraud work proportionate to identified risks

•

The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the
Standards for Commissioners at least annually. There is executive support
and direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to address identified
risks

•

A member of the governing body is proactively and demonstrably
responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption

Page 68

•

Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Counter Fraud Authority
quality assurance recommendations

There were no incidents of fraud reported or revealed during 2018/19.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of
Internal Audit concluded that:
“From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing an opinion of
substantial assurance that the system of internal control has been effectively
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are being
consistently applied.”
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Audit report assurances

Level of Assurance
Given

Area of Audit

NGA 2018-19/01: High-Level Review of Governance and
Assurance Arrangements

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/02: Delivery of Outsourced Assurances

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/04: Conflicts of Interest

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/05: Financial and Strategic Planning

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/06: Cost Improvement and QIPP

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/07: Public Health Liaison

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/08: Service Transformation

Good

NGA 2018-19/09: Contract and Performance Monitoring

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/10: Quality of Commissioned Services

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/12: Medicines Optimisation

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/13: Key Financial Controls

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/16: Primary Medical Care Commissioning

Substantial

NGA 2018-19/14: Data Security and Protection Toolkit: At the date of review in
February 2019, internal audit found that 15 out of a sample of 18 requirements could
be evidenced and substantiated. Feedback was provided to the CCG to enable
action on the remaining requirement before the final submission date of 31 March
2019.
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal
control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available
to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in
their annual audit letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its
principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit
Committee and the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee, and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
The CCG has worked closely with NHS England throughout the year, including
participating in the quarterly assurance programme of work.
In particular, there are some key processes that the CCG uses throughout the year
to be assured that the system of internal control is effective:
i.
Governing Body
The Governing Body assurance framework has been regularly reviewed by the
Governing Body. The Governing Body also receives minutes from the Executive
Committee and the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee who have responsibility for
the approval of new and updated policies throughout the year.
ii.
Audit Committee
The annual internal audit plan, as approved by the Audit Committee, enables the
CCG to be reassured that key internal financial controls and other matters relating to
risk are regularly reviewed. The committee has reviewed the internal and external
audit reports and has kept the assurance framework under review throughout the
year.
iii.
Quality, Safety and Risk Committee
This committee provides assurance to the Governing Body that there are adequate
controls in place to ensure the CCG is delivering on its statutory and non-statutory
clinical duties and responsibilities. The Head of Corporate Affairs, as lead manager
for risk and corporate governance, provides bi-monthly reports to the Quality, Safety
and Risk Committee and the Audit Committee.
iv.
Assurances of outsourced services
The CCG receives a number of service auditor reports to gain assurances from third
parties who deliver services on our behalf.
One report concerning the Primary Care Support Services which are provided by
Capita Business Services Limited has been issued which covers the period 1 April
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2018 to 31 March 2019. The report demonstrated continued improvement to the
control environment as the number of control objectives with a qualified or partially
qualified opinion reduced from 7 out of 16 control objectives (in the report covering
the 6 months to 31 March 2018) to 1 out of 16 in the most recent report.
In recognition that the Capita service auditor report only provides a level of
assurance, in August 2018 NHS England issued a draft Internal Audit Framework for
delegated Clinical Commissioning Groups, setting out the assurances that it would
expect to be provided by internal audit around delegated primary medical care
commissioning arrangements.
The document makes it clear that from 2018/19 delegated commissioning
arrangements should be covered annually as part of the internal audit plan, although
different aspects of primary medical care commissioning could be covered on a
cyclical basis. As a result the CCG amended its internal audit plan to include an
annual review of primary care commissioning.
v.
North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS)
The CCG relies on a range of support from NECS and it is important that the CCG
receives adequate assurances from the commissioning support unit in respect of its
controls environment.
In a management report to the CCG, a review of NECS internal controls identified
some minor areas of control weakness. This was considered by the Audit Committee
and upon review concluded that they did not pose a material risk to the integrity of
reporting.
Data security
We have adopted and implemented the Department of Health and Social Care’s
guidance, ‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information
Governance Serious Untoward Incidents’.
The organisation has a standard operating procedure in place for the reporting of
level three information governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This
procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures
to be used in the event of a data security breach.
Conclusion
My review confirms therefore that there is a sound system of internal control in place
across NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG and that there are no significant control
issues currently facing the CCG.
In accordance with the statutory duties for clinical commissioning groups, as laid
down in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, I certify that the continued delivery of
those statutory duties was discharged through NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical
Commissioning Group during 2018/19.
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Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
21st May 2019
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee is established to advise the Governing Body about pay,
other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer, Very Senior Managers
(VSM) and Clinical Leads. The committee is comprised entirely of Lay Members.
Details of remuneration committee membership, meeting frequency, items of
business and meeting attendance are given in the Governance Statement of this
report.
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers

The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for
employees of the CCG that are not covered by national pay and terms and
conditions frameworks and for people who provide services to the CCG. The
remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is
reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments made to
any senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments
in future years out with the ‘Very Senior Management Pay Framework’. This is in
accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued
by the Department of Health and Social Care.
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG
are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either
party.
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made
during the year to past senior managers (subject to audit).
We are committed to attracting, retaining and developing a diverse and skilled
workforce that is representative of our local population. We actively work to remove
any discriminatory practices in our work, eliminate all forms of harassment and
promote equality of opportunity in our recruitment, training, performance
management and development practices. We have policies and processes in place
to support this.
Salaries and allowances
The remuneration figures are given in the tables below.
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Notes to salaries and allowances shown in the tables below:
The figures in the tables relate to all those individuals who hold or who have held
office as a senior manager in the CCG during 2018/19. The definition of a senior
manager in the CCG is in accordance with the guidance provided in the Group
Accounting Manual 2018/19. It is ‘those persons in senior positions having authority
or responsibility for directing or controlling major activities within the group body. This
means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the
decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ This definition covers all
members of the CCG Governing Body, the CCG senior managers in regular
attendance at the Governing Body and all members of the CCG Executive
Committee.
Mark Adams is employed as Accountable Officer for both NHS Newcastle
Gateshead CCG and NHS North Tyneside CCG. He was also appointed
Accountable Officer for NHS Northumberland CCG by NHS England with effect from
1 March 2019. This arrangement has recently been formalised following the
conclusion of the appointment process. No recharge was made to NHS
Northumberland CCG for the month of March 2019 whilst these arrangements were
being formalised.
No other post-holder is shared under joint management arrangements with any other
CCG.
The Directors of Public Health are invited to be in attendance at the Governing Body
in a non-voting capacity. They are not employed by the CCG and receive no
remuneration from the CCG for their CCG Governing Body role.
Lynn Wilson (Director of Commissioning, Quality & Performance) is invited to be in
attendance at Governing Body, in a non-voting capacity. This post is a joint
appointment between NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG and Gateshead Council and
the post is hosted by Gateshead Council.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
Where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more than £150,000 per
annum on a pro-rata basis, equivalent to the Prime Minister’s salary, information is
disclosed in the remuneration report.
Newcastle Gateshead CCG does not have any senior managers that are paid more
than £150,000 per annum on a pro-rata basis.
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Senior manager remuneration 2018/19 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subject to audit)
Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Dr Mark Dornan

Clinical Chair

85-90

-

-

-

27.5-30

115-120

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair

55-60

-

-

-

-

55-60

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

85-90

-

-

-

-

85-90

Michael Burke

Lay member, governance/audit

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Mandy Coppin

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Paul Gertig

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Jeff Hurst

Deputy lay chair / lay member

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Margaret Stewart

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Oliver Wood

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Sheinaz Stansfield

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Tracey Stuchlik

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Dr Peter Ward

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Jackie Cairns

Director of System Enablement

95-100

-

-

-

-

95-100

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer

125-130

45

-

-

-

130-135

Bill Cunliffe

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25
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Senior manager remuneration 2018/19 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subject to audit)
Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Neil Hawkins

Head of Corporate Affairs

55-60

-

-

-

12.5-15

70-75

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

95-100

-

-

-

-

95-100

95-100

-

-

-

-

95-100

100-105

-

-

-

-

100-105

Jane Mulholland
Chris Piercy

Director of Operations, Delivery
and Commissioning
Executive Director of Nursing,
Patient Safety and Quality

Dr Dominic Slowie

Interim Medical Director

40-45

-

-

-

217.5–220

260-265

Dr Steve Summers

Clinical Director

50-55

-

-

-

0-2.5

55-60

Julia Young

Director of Complex Care and
Commissioning

95-100

-

-

-

7.5-10

105-110

Expense payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars.
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All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real
increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or
decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is
intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member of the scheme could provide.
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.
Mark Adams is employed as Accountable Officer by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.
The salary disclosed above relates to Newcastle Gateshead CCG’s share of remuneration of 60%. Pension benefits are reported in full by Newcastle
Gateshead CCG. Mark Adams was appointed Accountable Officer for NHS Northumberland CCG by NHS England with effect from 1 March 2019 and this
arrangement has recently been formalised following the conclusion of the appointment process. No recharge was made to NHS Northumberland CCG for
the month of March 2019 whilst these arrangements were being formalised. No other post-holder is shared under joint management arrangements with any
other CCG.
Dr Neil Morris left the Medical Director role on 31st January 2019.
Dr Dominic Slowie commenced the Interim Medical Director role on 1st December 2018 and was previously in a Clinical Director role from 3rd September
2018. Remuneration for both roles reported above.
Tracey Stuchlik commenced practice representative role on 1st September 2018.
The Directors of Public Health are invited to be in attendance at the Governing Body in a non-voting capacity. They are not employed by the CCG and
receive no remuneration from the CCG for their CCG Governing Body role.
Lynn Wilson (Director of Commissioning, Quality & Performance) is invited to be in attendance at Governing Body, in a non-voting capacity. This post is a
joint appointment between NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG and Gateshead Council and the post is hosted by Gateshead Council.
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Staff sharing arrangements for senior manager remuneration 2018/19
Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.
No other post-holder is shared under joint management arrangements with any other CCG.
The total remuneration earned for all work across the two CCGs in 2018/19 is shown below:

Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000
Mark Adams

Chief Officer

145-150
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TOTAL

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

-

145-150

Senior manager remuneration 2017/18 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subjected to audit)
Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Dr Guy Pilkington

Chair

85-90

-

-

-

45-47.5

130-135

Dr Mark Dornan

Assistant Clinical Chair

85-90

-

-

-

-

85-90

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

85-90

-

-

-

57.5-60

145-150

Michael Burke

Lay member, governance/audit

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Mandy Coppin

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Paul Gertig

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Jeff Hurst

Deputy lay chair / lay member

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Margaret Stewart

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Oliver Wood

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Sheinaz Stansfield

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Dr Peter Ward

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

37.5-40

40-45

Jackie Cairns

Director of Strategy and Integration

95-100

-

-

-

45-47.5

140-145

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer

125-130

39

-

-

-

125-130

Bill Cunliffe

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25

Pauline Fox

Head of Corporate Affairs

10-15

-

-

-

100-102.5

110-115
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Senior manager remuneration 2017/18 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subjected to audit)
Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Neil Hawkins

Head of Corporate Affairs

30-35

-

-

-

7.5-10

40-45

Dr Steve Kirk

Clinical Director

70-75

-

-

-

-

70-75

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

110-115

-

-

-

15-17.5

130-135

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations and Delivery

90-95

-

-

-

45-47.5

135-140

Chris Piercy

Executive Director of Nursing,
Patient Safety and Quality

100-105

-

-

-

-

100-105

Dr Steve Summers

Clinical Director

50-55

-

-

-

52.5-55

105-110

Julia Young

Director of Quality Development

95-100

-

-

-

47.5-50

140-145

Expense payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars.
All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions.
Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed
above relates to Newcastle Gateshead CCG’s share of remuneration of 60%. Pension benefits are reported in full by Newcastle Gateshead CCG.
Pauline Fox left the Head of Corporate Affairs role on 13th June 2017.
Neil Hawkins commenced the Head of Corporate Affairs role on 29th August 2017.
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Staff sharing arrangements for senior manager remuneration 2017/18
Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.
The total remuneration earned for all work across the two CCGs in 2017/18 is shown below:

Name

Mark Adams

Title

Chief Officer

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

145-150

-

145-150
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Newcastle Gateshead CCG senior officers pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Dr Mark Dornan

Clinical Chair

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

Peter Ward

Practice representative

Jackie Cairns

Director of System Enablement

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer

Neil Hawkins

Head of Corporate Affairs

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations, Delivery and
Commissioning

Chris Piercy

Executive Director of Nursing, Patient
Safety and Quality

Dr Dominic Slowie
Steve Summers

Real increase
in pension at
pension age

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum at
pension age

Total
accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2019

Lump sum
at pension
age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2019

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2018

Real
Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2019

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

2.5-5

10-15

25-30

159

50

212

3

-

-

20-25

65-70

513

-

-

8

0-2.5

0-2.5

35-40

110-115

758

71

850

21

-

-

5-10

20-25

131

15

146

-

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

100-105

692

61

766

14

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

0-2.5

-

0-5

-

5

4

16

8

-

-

0-5

0-5

339

-

-

14

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

90-95

-

-

-

14

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Interim Medical Director

5-7.5

12.5-15

45-50

100-105

593

145

860

6

Clinical Director

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

25-30

193

20

221

8

0-2.5

-

30-35

70-75

511

59

584

14

Director of Complex Care and
Commissioning
Notes to senior officers pension benefits table 2018/19:
Julia Young

Pension related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions
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Cash equivalent transfer values at 1 April 2018 have been inflated by 3% in accordance with NHS Business Services Authority instructions.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the scheme.
Dr Dominic Slowie joined the CCG in September 2018. Real increase in pension is a proportion for the time in post.
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Newcastle Gateshead CCG senior officers pension benefits as at 31 March 2018 (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Dr Guy Pilkington

Chair

Dr Mark Dornan

Assistant Clinical Chair

Mark Adams

Real
increase in
pension at
pension age

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age

Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March
2018

Lump sum
at pension
age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2018

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

Real
Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2018

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

2.5-5

7.5-10

20-25

65-70

440

56

509

12

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Chief Officer

2.5-5

10-12.5

35-40

105-110

630

85

736

21

Peter Ward

Practice representative

0-2.5

-

7.5-10

20-25

180

-

148

-

Jackie Cairns

Director of Strategy and Integration

2.5-5

7.5-10

30-35

95-100

587

72

672

14

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating Officer

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Pauline Fox

Head of Corporate Affairs

0-2.5

2.5-5

35-40

105-110

611

-

-

2

Neil Hawkins

Head of Corporate Affairs

0-2.5

-

0-5

-

-

-

5

5

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

0-2.5

2.5-5

15-20

45-50

293

19

329

17

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations and Delivery

2.5-5

7.5-10

25-30

85-90

627

-

-

14

Chris Piercy

Executive Director of Nursing, Patient
Safety and Quality

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Steve Summers

Clinical Director

2.5-5

7.5-10

10-15

30-35

185

56

249

8

Julia Young

Director of Quality Development

2.5-5

2.5-5

25-30

70-75

432

52

496

14
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Notes to senior officers pension benefits table 2017/18:
Pension related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions
Cash equivalent transfer values at 1 April 2017 have been inflated by 1% in accordance with NHS Business Services Authority instructions.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the scheme.
Neil Hawkins joined the CCG in August 2017. Real increases in pension are a proportion for the time in post
Pauline Fox left the CCG in June 2017. Real increases in pension are a proportion for the time in post
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouses (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the
period.
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
There was no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office during 2018/19.
Payments to past members
There were no payments to past directors during 2018/19.
Fair Pay Disclosure (this has been subjected to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest paid member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Newcastle Gateshead CCG
in the financial year 2018/19 was £130 - 135k (2017/18, £125 – 130k). This was 2.4
times (2017/18 restated, 2.2) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£56,106 (2017/18 restated, £58,217). In 2018/19, no employee (2017/18, no
employee) received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director.
Remuneration for employees other than the highest paid director ranged from
£17,460 to £104,085 (2017/18, £15,671 to £102,010).
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. In the 2017/18
annual report the median calculation included the highest paid director and nonexecutives. In order to be comparable with the current year the 2017/18 median has
been restated to exclude the highest paid director and non-executives.
Pay multiples (this has been subjected to audit)
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000)
Median Total Remuneration (£)
Ratio

2018/19
130-135
£56,106
2.4

2017/18
restated
125-130
£58,217
2.2

2017/18
125-130
£56,665
2.3

Staff Report
Number of senior managers
The CCG had 21 senior managers in post as at 31 March 2019. The definition of a
senior manager in the CCG is in accordance with the guidance provided in the
Group Accounting Manual 2018/19. It is ‘those persons in senior positions having
authority or responsibility for directing or controlling major activities within the group
body. This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather
than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ This definition covers
all members of the CCG Governing Body, the CCG senior managers in regular
attendance at the Governing Body and all members of the CCG Executive
Committee. There are no additional managers with significant financial responsibility.
Staff numbers and costs (this has been subjected to audit)
Staff numbers and costs are analysed by permanent employees and ‘other.’
Permanently employed refers to members of staff with a permanent (UK)
employment contract directly with the CCG. ‘Other’ refers to any member of staff
engaged that does not have a permanent (UK) employment contract with the CCG.
This includes employees on short term contracts of employment and
agency/temporary staff.

Average number of people employed
Average number based upon full time equivalent
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Permanent
Employees
96

Other
8

Total
105

Permanent
Employees
£'000
4,870
504
583
3
10
154
6,124

Staff costs
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Staff costs

Other
£'000
594
0
0
0
0
0
594

Total
£'000
5,464
503
583
3
10
154
6,718

The figures exclude lay members of the Governing Body.
Staff composition
The CCG staff gender profile as at 31 March 2019 is given in the table below. This
reflects our gender representation on the Governing Body, very senior manager
(VSM) staff and all other CCG staff.
Total
number of
staff /
members

Number of
male staff /
members

% male

Number of
female staff /
members

% female

6

3

50

3

50

Other employees
(who are not senior
officers)

152

42

28

110

72

Total employees

158

45

28

113

72

Governing body
members**

19

12

63

7

37

Category of staff

Senior officers*

* The CCG’s six Very Senior Managers (VSM) are employees and are all members of the Governing
Body therefore all are included in all the figures shown above.
**This figure includes substantive voting members only, as detailed in the accountability report section
of this annual report. The Governing Body figures are provided as standalone figures, they do not
contribute to the total figure for the whole CCG as some members may also be senior managers.

The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work
rated as of equal value, being entitled to equal pay.
Sickness absence data
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The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures
all staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers
and HR advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services. The
sickness absence data for 2018 is given in the table below.
Average of 12
months
(2018 calendar
year)

Average FTE
2018

3.15%

101

FTE Days
Available

22,822

FTE Days
Lost to
sickness
absence

Average
Sick Days
per FTE

719

7.1

Estimated Cost
of Sickness
Absence
£177k

FTE – Full time equivalent

Staff policies
The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken positive steps
throughout the year to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and
consultation with employees, including:
•

Providing employees systematically with information on matters of concern to
them as employees

•

Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the
views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are
likely to affect their interests

•

Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance

•

Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the
part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the
performance of the CCG

•

Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives
and CCG managers from across the region meet together

•

Health & Safety polices are kept under review and updated on a regular basis
to ensure they remain current and comply with national guidance and
legislation.

Encouraging Diversity
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise
the benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our
organisation.
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are
identified as meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable
adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the
recruitment process and during employment.
This year, working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability
Employer’ status for 2018/2019 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the
right people for our business and continually developing our people.
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Trade Union Facility Time
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations 2017 require
relevant public sector organisations to report on trade union facility time in their
organisations. Facility time is paid time off for union representatives to carry out
trade union activities.
Relevant union officials
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during the relevant period

Full-time equivalent employee number

1

1

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of time

Number of employees

0%

0

1-50%

1

51-99%

0

100%

0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Provide the Total cost of facility time

£1,849

Provide the Total pay bill

£5,463,000

Provide the percentage of the total pay bill
spent on facility time, calculated as:
(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100

0.03%

Paid trade union activities
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours
calculated as:
(total hours spent on paid trade union
activities by relevant union officials during
the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time
hours) x 100

Union representatives are allowed reasonable
time away from their core job role to support
union activities, therefore do not receive a fixed
allocation for paid facility time.

Expenditure on consultancy
No consultancy expenditure was incurred in 2018/19 (2017/18, nil).
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Off-payroll engagements
Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019

1

Of which, the number that have existed:
For less than one year at the time of reporting

1

For between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

For between two and three years at the time of reporting

0

For between three and four years at the time of reporting

0

For four or more years at the time of reporting

0

New off-payroll engagements longer than six months
New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, greater than £245 per day and that last longer than
six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019

1

Of which:
number assessed that fall under the remit of IR35

1

number assessed that do not fall under the remit of IR35

0

Number engaged directly (via personal service company contracted to
department) and are on the department payroll

1

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance purposes
during the year

0

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the
consistency review

0
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Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
Off-payroll engagements of Board members and senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

0

Total no. of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This
figure should include both on payroll and off- payroll engagements.

22

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (this has been
subjected to audit)
The CCG has made one payment of contractual notice due to an employee as an
exit package during 2018/19 for which the post was deemed to be redundant. This is
detailed in Note 3.3 of the statutory accounts.
The CCG has not made any special (non-contractual) payments in 2018/19 or up to
the time of this report.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses
and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included where relevant as
notes in the Financial Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also
included in this Annual Report at page 95.

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
21st May 2019
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of NHS
Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
(‘the CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2019, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flows, and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as interpreted and adapted by
the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2018/19 as contained in the Department of Health and
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018/19, and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to Clinical Commissioning
Groups in England (“the Accounts Direction”).
In our opinion, the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of its net
operating expenditure for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care
Group Accounting Manual 2018/19; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health
Service Act 2006 and the Accounts Direction issued thereunder.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require
us to report to you where:
• the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or
• the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Other information
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The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. The Accountable Officer is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of
expenditure and income.
The Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless the CCG is
informed of the intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another entity. The
Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the CCG
to prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as
required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
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•
•

the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Accounts Direction made under the National Health Service Act 2006; and
the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the Annual
Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by
NHS England; or
• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24and schedule 7(1) of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014; or
• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 and schedule 7(2) of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

The CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
the use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2019.
We have nothing to report in this respect.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in the use of the CCG’s resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves
that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of
the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.

Page 97

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017,
as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and
deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under
the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March
2019.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary.

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG,
as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Governing
Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Salvus House
Aykley Heads
Durham
DH1 5TS
Date
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
21st May 2019
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